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Premaitha Health is a molecular diagnostics 
company using the latest advances in DNA 
sequencing technology to develop safer, 
faster and more accurate clinical tests. 

The first approved product is a regulated non-invasive 
prenatal test. The IONA® test was launched in February 
2015 and has already been established in many leading and 
pioneering international clinical laboratories and is being 
used by a growing network of healthcare professionals.
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Financial

£2.5m 
Revenues generated in the first 
year of the IONA® test

17,000+ 
IONA® tests sold

£13.0m 
Investment secured

Highlights

Operational

• The IONA® test is the first and leading CE-marked 
system for non-invasive prenatal screening

• Installed in the first NHS laboratory and in three 
private screening companies in the UK, Poland and 
Switzerland. Premaitha is now supporting these 
labs in their organic expansion 

• Six further laboratory contracts announced 
serving the French, Middle Eastern and Russian 
markets

• Non-invasive Prenatal Testing (NIPT) clinical 
testing service launched from Premaitha’s 
Manchester site, in a CQC-registered facility

• Service customers announced in the UK, Asia, 
Europe and Latin America

• Two independent clinical performance studies of 
the IONA® test showed 100% accuracy with 0% 
false positives

• European reimbursement policies starting  
to emerge in Switzerland, the UK and the 
Netherlands
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Proven.
Certified.
International.

Company overview

Business streams
CE-IVD diagnostic kit supply
The IONA® test stands out from the 
competition as the first NIPT on the market 
to be developed into an in vitro diagnostic 
product and to achieve the CE-mark from a 
notified regulatory body. This enables clinical 
laboratories to establish a routine, quality-
assured non-invasive prenatal screening 
service in-house, reducing the need to send 
blood samples to a centralised laboratory, 
often in the USA or China. The clear benefit 
for laboratories is that all the verification and 
validation of the test has already been done; 
it allows laboratories to be up and running 
fast with a reproducible and consistently 
safe and accurate screening service.

Central laboratory service provider
Premaitha established its own high-
throughput, quality screening service 
laboratory, with a rapid turnaround time of 
as little as three days, based in Manchester, 
UK. This supports our laboratory customers 
with a back-up service and can allow early 
access to the IONA® test during installation 
and training phases. Many hospitals and 
clinics just require a send-out service, 
without any strategic ambitions to establish 
their own NIPT laboratory. Premaitha 
supports the service with a supply of 
blood tubes, packaging and couriers to 
guarantee fast and safe sample receipt. 

Core capabilities
Bioinformatics and assay development
Premaitha has assembled a world-class 
bioinformatics and assay development 
capability. A key element of the IONA® test is 
the state-of-the-art, medical device grade 
IONA® Software. It translates complex 
data from the DNA analysis into easy-to-
interpret results for clinicians. It contains 
built-in quality control checks and has 
been fully validated and verified, allowing 
laboratories and clinicians confidence 
in the test results. Good software is 
only part of the solution and the team 
at Premaitha has a wealth of experience 
in developing and commercialising CE-
marked in vitro diagnostics products.

Deep clinical understanding
Premaitha has a strong network of key 
opinion leaders and genetics experts that we 
work with very closely on the development, 
validation, verification and implementation 
into the care pathway of the IONA® test. 
The IONA® test has been validated in a 
clinical study with six leading fetal medicine 
departments of NHS hospital Trusts in the 
UK and the data has been published in the 
Journal of Ultrasound in Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology. A further clinical study is 
underway to investigate the performance 
of the IONA® test in twin pregnancies. 

World-class application support
Clinical laboratory customers of the 
IONA® test are given a dedicated support 
team to ensure the fast and smooth set 
up of the IONA® test. Premaitha provides 
a training programme for laboratory 
technicians both at our demonstration 
facility in Manchester and also on site in 
the customer’s laboratory. Installation and 
instrumentation coordination is handled 
by Premaitha and the support team also 
stays onsite to ‘hand hold’ during the go live 
stage. Feedback from existing customers 
has been exceptional about the application 
support they receive from Premaitha. 

Regulatory expertise
The IONA® test has achieved the  
coveted CE-IVD standard as assessed  
by an external notified body. A regulated  
in vitro diagnostic product for NIPT 
enables the decentralisation of screening, 
empowering more regional laboratories 
to establish local NIPT services in-house, 
to support healthcare professionals and 
pregnant mothers in the area. The CE-
mark offers entry to many markets in 
Europe and beyond. In addition, Premaitha 
is now registering the IONA® test in 
other territories with similar regulatory 
programmes across the world.
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Geographic locations

Announced deals for the IONA® test

The IONA® test is the first and leading 
CE-marked system for non-invasive 
prenatal screening, supported  
by sequencing technology provider 
Thermo Fisher.

Premaitha Health is a molecular diagnostics company using the 
latest advances in DNA sequencing technology to develop safer, 
faster and regulated non-invasive prenatal screening tests for 
pregnant women. 

Premaitha’s strategy is to provide the highest quality product-based screening  
solutions to enable the rapid dissemination of the technology. Premaitha’s flagship 
product was launched in February 2015 and has already been established in many 
leading and pioneering international clinical laboratories and is being used by a growing 
network of healthcare professionals. The IONA® test is available as a CE-IVD product 
and also, as a service. This business model allows Premaitha to meet the needs of both 
our laboratory and clinical customers and ensures wide coverage and accessibility of the 
IONA® test for pregnant women. 

Strong relationships 
with platform 
providers

Premaitha has strong relationships 
with its platform providers and in 
particular Thermo Fisher Scientific, 
its chosen sequencing technology 
provider. The relationship enables 
Premaitha to offer enhanced 
commercial solutions to clinical 
laboratories across Europe and 
other international territories, 
enabling more pregnant women to 
access the benefits of NIPT. It will 
also allow the Company to deliver 
and further develop high quality, 
fully validated non-invasive prenatal 
screening tests that are designed to 
reduce costs and improve patient 
outcomes. The relationship was 
strengthened by loan facilities and 
warrants for £5m in December 2015 
and £4m in September 2016. 
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By experts, for experts

The IONA® test has been designed, 
developed and implemented into clinical 
practice with the support of a leading 
panel of experts in the fields of fetal 
medicine, obstetrics, midwifery, antenatal 
screening, genetics and molecular 
diagnostics. Premaitha has a trusted, 
independent and objective network of key 

Streamlined workflow – results in just three days

Maternal 
plasma

DNA extraction

10ml blood sample is 
collected from the 
expectant mother

Fully automated DNA 
extraction is carried out 
on the QIAsymphony®

Safe. Fast. Accurate.
Non-invasive with no risk  
of miscarriage

Fastest NIPT on the market  
with results available in as little 
as three days

>99% for detection of  
trisomy conditions

The IONA® test is the leading and trusted non-invasive 
prenatal screening test for pregnant women which 
estimates the risk of a fetus having Down’s, Edwards’ 
or Patau’s syndrome. It is carried out on a small blood 
sample from the mother, without any risk to the 
baby. The IONA® test has a higher detection rate 
and lower false positive rate than existing screening 
tests, giving pregnant women, their families and 
their doctors greater confidence in the result and 
reducing the need for unnecessary invasive follow-
up test and the associated anxiety and stress.
 
The IONA® test is a complete CE-marked diagnostic 
system that is simple and standardised, enabling 
Premaitha’s clinical laboratory customers to perform 
the test in-house with full application support and 
training from the Premaitha team. The IONA® test 
workflow is only three days, making it the fastest NIPT 
available with an exceptionally low re-draw rate. 

The IONA® test prides itself on screening for clinically 
relevant trisomies (T21, T18 and T13), as recommended 
by most professional bodies, rather than offering 
a clinically unnecessary set of screening results for 
microdeletions and sex aneuploidies. This allows for 
simpler genetic counselling to pregnant mothers, which 
is favoured by most midwives and obstetricians. 

Product overview

opinion leaders that we engage with to 
showcase the clinical and technical 
performance of the IONA® test through 
clinical studies, publications and industry 
posters and presentations. Our IONA® 
test customer base of laboratories and 
healthcare professionals are thought 
leaders, innovators and early adopters; 

they are a constant source of insight into 
improving usability and developing new 
supportive features and applications for 
the IONA® test.

“At Premaitha we set out to develop a prenatal screening test based on what providers and mothers 
needed. We are grateful for the input we received and the continued feedback through our network of 
experts. This clinically based, needs-driven, ethical approach is validated by: uptake of the IONA® test, 
peer-reviewed publications, and accepted test parameters by the learned societies. These results are 
gained because of this patient-centred, provider-focused approach.” 
William Denman, MD FRCA, Chief Medical Officer, Premaitha Health



5

G
overnance

Premaitha Health PLC | Annual Report and Accounts 2016

Financials
C

o
m

pany overview
Strategic repo

rt

Product development

IONA® Software 
enhancements

MyNIPT® The IONA® test HT Future development  
pipeline

The IONA® Software now 
includes the option to have fetal 
fraction % on the test report. 
The IONA® test is very 
competitive and a valid result 
can be given from as little as 2% 
fetal fraction, lowering the test 
failure rate and reducing the 
need for a re-draw of a blood 
sample from a pregnant 
women. The IONA® test now 
also offers the option of 
reporting fetal sex 
determination; this was to meet 
the needs of the private clinic 
market. 

Customer feedback drove the 
development of MyNIPT®, an 
online data exchange portal 
that enables the exchange of 
patient results easily and 
securely between the 
laboratory and the clinician. 
Healthcare professionals can 
track the status of submitted 
samples and communicate with 
the laboratory. 

For our high throughput 
laboratory customers, the  
HT kit has been developed  
to better meet their needs in 
terms of the IONA® workflow  
in the laboratory. It enables 
customers to perform more 
samples in the same time frame 
with an improvement to the 
chemistry, therefore saving 
time and money.

Premaitha’s development team 
is working on future projects for 
the IONA® test, striving to 
continuously improve the 
clinical and technical features to 
meet our customer, partner and 
market needs. 

The technology and expertise 
utilised in the IONA® test could 
be used in other applications 
such as cancer and the 
Premaitha’s development team 
is looking into opportunities to 
potentially grow into these 
fields. 
 

Library 
preparation

Sequencing Analysis

Library preparation is 
completed using the 

IONA® Library 
Preparation Kit on the 

NGS Sciclone®

Completed library is 
prepared for 
downstream 

sequencing using the 
Ion Chef™ and then 
analysed on the Ion 

Proton™ system

Automated data 
analysis with the IONA® 

Software applies 
stringent quality  

control criteria and 
supplies an individual 

sample report for  
each patient

Streamlined workflow – results in just three days

Uses a small maternal blood 
sample

Only screens for clinically 
relevant conditions

The complete CE-marked NIPT 
system, quality is assured

Simple. Ethical. Quality.
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Market opportunity

Key market drivers
Premaitha is well positioned to lead the way in this emerging 
multi-billion dollar market opportunity. 

Regional screening policies
In January 2016, the UK National Screening 
Committee (NSC) made a recommendation 
to routinely offer NIPT testing on the 
NHS to high-risk pregnant women as part 
of the standard fetal anomaly screening 
programme. This is to significantly reduce 
invasive testing such as amniocentesis, 
which carries a small miscarriage risk. Many 
NHS Trusts have begun to offer this within 
the NHS either free of charge to women 
or privately but with the benefit that the 
women remain in the NHS care pathway. 

Many countries across Europe are 
following with similar recommendations 
and in Switzerland NIPT can now be 
reimbursed and the Dutch government is 
also making a recommendation following 
the completion of the TRIDENT study 
about implementing NIPT nationally.

Demographics 
More than one in five pregnant women 
in the UK are now over 35. As expectant 
mothers get older there is an increasing 
chance that their pregnancies will be 
affected by Down’s syndrome, with 
one in 40 pregnancies at high risk. 

There is a similar trend across many 
European countries with women 
waiting longer to have children. 

Access and availability
As NIPT screening tests are more readily 
available, through either public hospitals or 
through private practice, they are easier to 
access. Women no longer need to travel to 
the city for a specialist consultation at an 
expensive private clinic and then for their 
sample to be sent to the USA or China to 
be tested and results returned two weeks 
later. The increase in the competition 
for NIPT and more local screening has 
led to a more affordable test, with some 
NHS Trusts offering a test for just £300, 
compared to £550 a few years ago. 

Patient power and increased awareness
Increased awareness of the benefits of 
NIPT by pregnant mothers and their families 
through the media has fuelled demand 
for the test. Women thoroughly research 
many aspects of their pregnancy online, 
especially during the first trimester. NIPT is 
now a topic that is discussed widely and lots 
of information is available online or through 
information booklets given by their midwife. 
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FutureCurrent

1 2 3 4

The global market for NIPT is large and 
continuously growing. Premaitha’s 
primary market is Europe followed by 
Asia Pacific and the Middle East. 

140m
Births annually

20%
To ‘high risk’ women  
(>35 years old)

$8bn
Potential market

Significant opportunities to expand

Worldwide:

1 High-risk women
Women who have a high risk result from the 
combined test are often advised to have 
an NIPT rather than going for an invasive 
test such as amniocentesis or CVS. High 
risk in the UK is defined at 1:150, but each 
country has a different high risk cut off. 

2 Contingent screening/intermediate risk
Some institutions implement a contingent 
screening model which means that women 
have the combined test first and those 
high/intermediate risk, at their defined 
cut-off, will then be offered an NIPT. 

3 Private/average risk 
Women of average risk but willing to pay 
privately for an NIPT for peace of mind.

4 All women 
Over time there is the potential that initial 
first trimester screening could be replaced 
directly with an ultrasound and NIPT for all 
women; this could be reimbursed or paid for by 
public health bodies or insurance providers. 
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Regulatory, commercialisation, 
assay development, 

bioinformatics

Accelerated  
launch phase

Scalable supply 
chain

Product sales

Premaitha 
service 

laboratory

Customer 
laboratories

Scalable value chain
Premaitha works with world-leading 
supply chain and DNA sequencing 
platform partners to offer the highest 
quality customer experience. Establishing 
in-house laboratories is a complex 
process and the IONA® test offers an 
accelerated and lower risk launch phase 
when compared to technology transfer 
alternatives. The Premaitha service 
laboratory is Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) registered and enables clinicians 
and laboratory clients to offer an instant 
service while they build their demand 
profile, or to assist with peaks in activity 
from in-house laboratories. Expert 
technical, clinical, operational and 
commercial staff provide guidance and 
solutions throughout the testing lifecycle.

Flexible.
Tailored.
Proactive.

Commercialisation strategy
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Clinicians

Key clinical opinion 
leaders, NGS platform 
partner collaboration

£5m
Estimated total invested  
in R&D for IONA®

Multiple routes to market

Direct
The Premaitha commercial team has a wealth of 
international experience in commercialising molecular 
diagnostics and working with clinical laboratories; the 
majority of our customers are direct. The commercial 
team is located across different European regions, 
including the UK, and also Australia, covering Asia Pacific. 

Distributors
In some key territories such as the Middle East, France 
and Greece it has been the preferred route to secure 
new clinical laboratories via a local distributor. Often 
they will already be the distributor for the 
instrumentation that the IONA® test runs on and they 
will add value in terms of local culture, language, 
politics, customer network, regulatory and logistics 
support. 

Partners 
Capitalising on the strength of working closely with our 
partners, Premaitha aims to work in synergy to support 
their customers with an NIPT solution. 
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New labs Established labs

Our business model in action

Our clinical laboratory customers that have established 
the IONA® test in-house are enabling a ‘hub and spoke’ 
business model where they also develop a network of their 
own customers. These would be the hospitals or clinics, 
both public and private, that send the samples to the 
laboratory. Premaitha is focused on establishing new 
laboratories, but also supports the growth in the 
development of more clinics. 

Laboratories
Premaitha’s clinical laboratories are a mixture of public and 
private, genetics or screening laboratories. The nature of the 
IONA® workflow is that it is scalable and flexible, allowing the 
sample throughput to grow with demand, so as the number of 
‘spokes’ grows, the laboratory can support the demand. Some 
laboratories may just service their own hospital, Trust or region, 
but others have aspirations to receive samples for revenue from 
different countries. One of these clinical laboratories is the 
Premaitha service laboratory in Manchester, UK which has its 
own international network of hospitals. 

Clinics
The so-called ‘spokes’ of the model are the hospitals and clinics 
that obtain the blood samples from the pregnant women after 
counselling them about non-invasive prenatal screening and 
the IONA® test. Premaitha has a package of marketing, 
education and training to support the healthcare professionals 
to be able to promote and raise awareness of the IONA® test to 
their pregnant mothers. In addition, Premaitha runs many 
educational symposiums and training seminars for 
obstetricians and midwives to increase understanding of the 
IONA® test and to essentially drive sample volumes. 



11

G
overnance

Premaitha Health PLC | Annual Report and Accounts 2016

Financials
C

o
m

pany overview
Strategic repo

rt

Scientific and clinical education

Premaitha positions itself as a trusted, ethical and quality driven 
provider of non-invasive prenatal screening. NIPT is a busy 
marketplace with a range of different tests from competitors 
offering different features and benefits to many different 
stakeholders. Premaitha is focused on educating and creating  
a deep understanding amongst the labs, obstetricians and 
midwives about what’s behind the NIPT story, de-mystifying the 
jargon and the true elements that matter to improve the quality of 
prenatal screening for pregnant women. 

Working in collaboration with our customers, Premaitha has 
run a series of international educational symposiums and 
seminars to educate, inform and raise awareness of non-
invasive prenatal screening. By inviting key opinion leaders  
in the field we are able to gain the trust and confidence  
of others that the IONA® test is a respected, reliable 
screening test. We highlight best practice in terms  
of clinical implementation and the importance of  
genetic counselling, before and after the test. 

Recently, Premaitha and St George’s Hospital NHS Trust 
co-hosted an educational seminar at the Royal Society of 
Medicine with keynote speaker Professor Kypros Nicolaides 
of the Fetal Medicine Foundation. It was exceptionally well 
attended by over 120 fetal medicine specialists in the UK and 
there was engaged debate and discussions. 

In addition, Premaitha is keen to support hospitals with 
internal training sessions on logistics of sample sending, 
interpretation of test results and completing consent forms. 
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St George’s 
Hospital

Progress against strategy

St George’s University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and the SAFE test 
laboratory – powered by the IONA® test
Background
Pioneering thought leaders at St George’s 
recognised the clinical benefits of NIPT 
screening and developed a clear business 
strategy to be the first NHS Trust to 
establish their own laboratory offering  
an NIPT test in-house. Premaitha was 
awarded the contract to provide the 
IONA® test to St George’s following a 
competitive tender process. 

St George’s was committed to making the 
SAFE test (as it is branded) available to 
their patients as soon as possible and in 
partnership with Premaitha they launched 
the service in June 2015. This first phase 
of launch was utilising Premaitha’s 
Manchester service laboratory while their 
own laboratory was being fitted out and 
instrumentation installed and training 
undertaken with the technical support 
team at Premaitha. From September 2015 
the SAFE laboratory was fully 
commissioned and routine NIPT screening 
samples began to flow into the St 
George’s SAFE laboratory in Tooting, 
London. 

Hub and spoke model in action
The SAFE laboratory is a Centre of 
Excellence for NIPT; as well as processing 
samples from the St George’s Hospital 
Trust, the SAFE laboratory developed a 
strong network of feeder hospitals and 
clinics in the South Thames region that 
send their NIPT samples to them. Some of 
these are other NHS hospitals and some 
are private fetal medicine clinics around 
London such as Ultrasound Diagnostic 
Services, Portland Hospital, Alexander 
House Wimbledon and the Fetal Medicine 
Centre. 

Working in partnership
The St George’s team provide valuable 
clinical and technical insights into the 
impact of NIPT in the care pathway and 
work closely with Premaitha to expand  
and improve the utility of the product 
based on their feedback and experience. 
St George’s is currently taking part in a 
clinical study to evaluate the performance 
of the IONA® test in twin pregnancies. The 
development of our online data exchange 
portal, MyNIPT®, was done with strong 
collaboration with St George’s and they 
stress-tested the portal before launch. In 
addition, Premaitha and St George’s work 
closely on raising awareness and 
improving clinical education of non-
invasive prenatal screening with seminars, 
speaking presentations at industry events 
and through public relations campaigns.

● NHS hospitals
● Private clinics

Ultrasound 
Diagnostic  

Services

Alexander  
House 

Wimbledon

Portland  
HospitalFetal  

Medicine  
Centre

Royal Surrey 
County

Worthing

St Richard’s

Epsom

St Helier

St Peter’s

East Surrey

Redhill
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A mother’s perspective

Berna Turner, 35, from Kent,  
was told at 12 weeks into her first 
pregnancy that her baby had a high 
risk of being affected with Down’s 
syndrome. 

Talking about her pregnancy  
Berna says: “We had a private  
scan at 10 weeks and all was well.  
It was after the combined test I was 
advised of a higher risk of a Down’s 
affected baby. That came as a 
traumatic shock, especially as I was 
only 35 years old. We did our own 
research to try and understand the 
background and options available. 
We were recommended to have a 
Chorionic Villus Sampling (CVS)  
test where a needle is inserted into 
your tummy to take samples of cells 
from the placenta, but it carries the 
chance of miscarriage.”

“My husband had heard of the 
IONA® test through a colleague.  
I thought it was great that it only 
involved taking blood, and I was 
actually a little angry that the  
IONA® test was not the first option 
presented to us. It felt like there  
was no contest: one carries a risk  
of miscarriage, the other doesn’t. 
We found out we could have the  
test done at St George’s in South 
London; they were wonderful, it 
only took about 15 minutes from 
start to finish and we received the 
results five days later. “

“The comfort the result brought 
was quite overwhelming. It was the 
moment that I felt I was allowed to 
get excited about the pregnancy 
and it was the trigger to let me share 
our news with friends and family.”

Berna and her husband welcomed 
baby Izzy into the world in January 
2016. 

“NIPT has the potential to make a huge difference to the care  
and reassurance that clinicians can offer to pregnant women. Too 
many have been through the anxiety and discomfort of invasive 
procedures after receiving false positive results from the combined 
test – the IONA® test gives us the accuracy and reliability to reduce 
this number significantly. We are very happy to be able to partner 
with a UK innovator like Premaitha to create a UK Centre of 
Excellence using the first regulated NIPT test.”
Professor Basky Thilaganathan, Consultant Obstetrician at St George’s
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 I am pleased to be able to report on a successful 
first trading year for Premaitha’s IONA® test.

Adam Reynolds
Chairman

Premaitha has made significant progress 
in its first full trading year with customer 
contracts operational across Europe and 
being installed in the Middle East. The 
in-house service laboratory achieved 
CQC registration and is offering excellent 
service levels to a growing roster of 
clinicians in the UK and internationally.

We continue to feel the unwanted 
attentions of a dominant market player 
who clearly fears fair competition from a 
superior offering. We continue to defend 
the technical claims and we are pleased 
that the EU Competition Commission are 
starting to look at market behaviour of the 
aggressors (see principal risks and 
uncertainties section).

Feedback from customers and front-line 
medical professionals is extremely 
positive and we are building a supportive 
base from which to expand the company in 
the coming years. This dialogue has 
enabled the development of product and 
service enhancements which will continue 
to keep the IONA® test at the forefront of 
non-invasive prenatal testing.

Focused strategy underpinned by strong 
clinical foundations
The Group’s strategy remains to apply 
DNA-based technological advances to 
significant medical challenges, initially by 
delivering a rapid take-up of DNA-based 
prenatal screening solutions. We develop, 
produce and sell molecular diagnostic 
products and services to prenatal 
screening and genetics laboratories 
internationally. These products and 
services are developed and delivered to 
the highest quality standards, and are 
supported by strong clinical studies and 
collaborations with knowledge leaders in 
the field.

Highly capable team assembled
We have retained an exceptional team of 
leading scientists and experienced 
professionals in all disciplines at our 
Manchester headquarters and have 
continued to assemble an outstanding 
commercial team with true global reach to 
generate revenues and support our 
expanding international client base.

I would like to thank all of those individuals 
for their efforts in delivering the 
impressive achievements to date.

Financial position
Financially, the Group is at the early 
stages of its journey. The fundraising in 
July 2015 demonstrated strong 
shareholder support for our strategy and 
the subsequent investments by Thermo 
Fisher in December 2015 and September 
2016 was further corroboration of the 
exciting potential for the IONA® test  
and Premaitha.

Chairman’s statement

£2.5m 
Revenues generated in the 
first year of the IONA® test

£13.0m 
Investment secured
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Outlook
Premaitha has been a public company for 
just over two years and from a standing 
start with zero revenue has made 
substantial progress. During the current 
financial year we will continue this growth 
trajectory. 

The outlook for the current financial year 
is dominated by three separate but related 
strands: 
• Litigation 
• Commercial opportunities
• Strategic relationship 
 
Litigation 
The litigation by Illumina has been a 
significant challenge for the Company in 
terms of the consumption of managerial 
time and financial resource. The Board 
firmly believes in the strength of its case 
and ultimately this will be resolved in a 
Court of Law in the United Kingdom in the 
second half of 2017, unless our opponents 
see sense in the meantime. Depending on 
the outcome of that case the Court has 
indicated a preparedness to consider an 
action by the Company to pursue an 
anti-trust case against Illumina. The Board 
believes it has substantive evidence to 
support its claims. 

We have been greatly encouraged by the 
European Commission’s investigation into 
anticompetitive conduct by Illumina and 
Sequenom. We understand that the 
Commission is investigating the 
background to – and creation of – the 
Pooled Patent Agreement and the 
Claimants behaviour since then infringes 
Articles 101 and or 102 TFEU. We also 
believe that the Commission is examining 
whether the licensing practices of Illumina 
raise competition law concerns.

The costs for the defence of our position 
as well as the costs of assisting the 
European Commission’s investigation into 
potential anti-competitive conduct, a 
significant part of the Group’s legal 
strategy, have been fully provided for in 
our 2015/16 accounts, and we believe we 
have appropriate funding in place to 
support this and our commercial plans. 
We are confident of our position and 
believe the market should not be 
dominated by one monopolistic player. 
Their conduct is denying choice and 
access to high quality localised NIPT 
screening, and we are sure the 
appropriate authorities will reach  
the same view. 

Commercial opportunities 
We finished the 2015/16 financial year 
strongly and have seen this momentum 
continue into the current financial year. 
We are seeing continued growth in our 
installed base within Europe and what is 
very encouraging is the growth and 
momentum we are experiencing for 
IONA® within the Middle East and Asia. I 
believe during the course of the next 
twelve months these territories will 
become very dominant for us in terms of 
revenue growth and where we do not face 
the same litigation issues as in Europe.

We have built an extremely robust 
business with substantial global 
opportunities, I am very proud of what we 
have achieved and becoming a global 
business. Although the short to medium 
term focus will be partially centred on the 
litigation and its distractions, one must 
not forget the progress we have made and 
the substantial growth opportunities we 
have ahead of us. 

Strategic relationship 
We have built the foundations of a strong 
relationship with Thermo Fisher Scientific 
in terms of our own commercial and 
product development on the Ion Torrent 
platform. We see ourselves as a key 
content provider to Thermo Fisher and its 
Life Technologies and Brahms subsidiaries 
and we want to further build upon this in 
the coming year. 

Board change
Finally I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank David Evans for guiding 
Premaitha as Chairman over the past four 
years. The next phase of Premaitha’s 
growth strategy should see significant 
expansion opportunities within the 
Far-East over the next twelve months and 
I look forward to updating shareholders 
shortly on our progress. 

Adam Reynolds
Chairman
30 September 2016
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We have made substantial progress in the year to launch the 
IONA® prenatal screening test, demonstrate its excellent clinical 
credentials and build a highly capable international molecular 
diagnostics business.

Dr Stephen Little
Chief Executive Officer

10
Laboratory contracts

Over

17,000
Tests sold

The IONA® prenatal screening test has 
made an impressive start since its launch 
in February 2015. Over 17,000 tests were 
sold in its first trading year as CE-IVD kits 
to customers in the UK and Europe, and as 
tests performed in our own CQC-
registered service laboratory. Customer 
feedback has been extremely positive and 
published clinical results show it is a 
market-leading test that is well-
positioned for the prenatal screening 
industry. Product development continues 
apace to ensure we meet the evolving 
needs of the screening community across 
the world.

The business is now fully operational with 
manufacturing, service and commercial 
activities focused on delivering 
consistently high quality products and 
support to an expanding international 
customer base. There is still much to do to 
realise the significant potential of the 
Company, and the IONA® test, not least to 
resist the obstacles placed in our way by 
aggressive competitors, and we remain 
focused on the addressing the challenges 
and realising the opportunities this entails. 

Strategy
Our published clinical results and early 
contract wins confirm our strategy of 
providing product-based screening 
solutions to our laboratory customers  
to enable the rapid dissemination of NIPT 
technology. The IONA® test has been 
specifically designed to allow clinical 
laboratories, even without a background in 
DNA analysis technology, to offer the new 
NIPT tests thereby ensuring broad uptake 
and access to pregnant women. Supporting 
these customers to build sustainable ‘hub 
and spoke’ business models is a key part of 
our ongoing strategy.

We are confident that our model of 
providing the highest consistent quality 
products to localised screening 
laboratories, and from our own CQC-
registered service laboratory, is ideally 
suited to the needs of the international 
markets for prenatal screening, and we 
are pleased to see this strategy being 
corroborated by a broad range of 
customers across the world.
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Market development
By the end of the financial year, Premaitha 
had established the IONA® test in four 
customer laboratories and was installing  
it in a further six announced contracts. 
The customers are spread across the UK, 
Europe and the Middle East and are a 
mixture of public (NHS) and private 
providers. Once installed, we support  
our partners in their demand-building 
activities through clinical education  
and promotional activities.

In addition we have established an 
in-house service laboratory, for which we 
achieved CQC-registration, to provide 
prenatal screening services during 
installation and demand-building phases 
for our customers. The service laboratory 
is supporting customer clinicians as far 
afield as Asia and Latin America.

The decision to adopt NIPT testing 
remains a complex one for laboratories  
as it involves significant capital outlay and 
uncertainty as to how quickly the solution 
will be adopted by official bodies and 
patients. The sales process can, 
therefore, be lengthy. However, we remain 
confident that ultimately all prenatal 
screening will include NIPT and that the 
IONA® test represents the best available 
solution for pregnant women and the 
screening clinicians and laboratories who 
support them. During the year we saw 
public bodies starting to announce 
decisions to include NIPT in pregnancy 
screening pathways and we expect this 
trend to continue in the coming years.

Product development
The IONA® test is demonstrably fit for 
purpose in the NIPT screening field and to 
ensure this continues to be the case we 
have introduced a number of additional 
product and software features such as sex 
determination and fetal fraction, with key 
attributes that maintain high positive 
predictive values and low redraw rates. 
Throughput, cost and ease of use are  
also important considerations for our 
laboratory customers and our high 
throughput kit is one example of how  
we improve customer economics as  
they expand the prenatal screening  
offering and scale. 

In addition to these new developments we 
are also extending the availability of the 
IONA® test by performing registration 
studies to allow us to sell the product in 
territories in Asia and the Americas.

The analysis of cell-free DNA potentially 
offers clinical advantages in other fields of 
medicine and we have embarked on initial 
studies to identify opportunities to 
leverage our capabilities in the future in 
areas such as other prenatal conditions 
and in cancer detection.

Operations
Key performance indicators (KPIs)
The Board recognises the importance  
of KPIs in driving appropriate behaviours 
and enabling the monitoring of Group 
performance. For the current financial 
year the primary KPIs were the number of 
IONA® tests sold or performed in-house, 
and net cash balances. Over 17,000 IONA® 
tests were sold or performed and cash at 
the period end was £5,337k  
(2015: £2,709k). Going forward the Board 
will evolve appropriate KPIs to drive the 
commercialisation of the IONA® test, and 
to ensure robust financial performance.

Geographical footprint
Premaitha has secured contracts  
with laboratory customers in the UK, 
Europe and the Middle East. We have also 
appointed a key sales leader in Asia Pacific 
and distributors in a number of territories, 
and we also have opportunities in the 
Americas. As new customers come on 
stream, we will build an appropriate 
commercial and technical support 
infrastructure in regional hub locations. 
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Application support
We are able to offer training and 
application support to laboratories that 
may not be familiar with the technology 
used in the IONA® test. To deliver this 
activity, our excellent support team 
provide exemplary customer service at 
their laboratories and via our helpdesk. 

Clinical laboratory
We have established a laboratory to 
perform IONA® testing to support client 
demonstrations and to act as an enabling 
resource for customers who are installing 
the IONA® workflow in their own facilities 
or are building sample volumes with their 
downstream clinical partners. During  
the year this laboratory achieved CQC 
registration and is now delivering very 
good turnaround times with high  
accuracy and low redraw rates.

Supply chain
Our supply chain and NGS platform 
partners coupled with our in-house 
operational capabilities have scaled  
quickly whilst maintaining the high quality 
standards we, and our customers, demand. 
We remain confident that these partners 
are aligned culturally and operationally to 
fulfil the potential we aim to achieve with 
the IONA® prenatal screening test. 

Dr Stephen Little 
Chief Executive Officer

Financial 
Income statement
In the first trading year revenues were 
£2,452k (2015: £132k), predominantly 
from sales of IONA® test products with 
also some non-recurring equipment 
revenues from one customer. General and 
administrative expenses of £6,573k (2015: 
£4,468k) were principally incurred on staff 
costs, sales and marketing and product 
development expenditure. Research & 
Development tax credits are anticipated 
to be £294k (2015: £800k) due to the 
IONA® test being post-launch throughout 
the reporting period. The operating loss 
after general administrative expenses  
was £5,872k (2015: £4,336k) before  
one-off and non-cash items totalling 
£6,163k (2015: £3,200k) detailed below.

There is a resultant operating loss  
after one-off and non-cash items  
of £12,032k (2015: £7,536k).

One-off and non-cash items
Significant one-off and non-cash items 
have been shown separately in the 
Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and total £6,163k 
(2015: £3,200k). The principal one-off 
item is a provision for anticipated costs in 
the ongoing litigation with Illumina Inc, 
and others. The litigation provision has 
been increased by £5,834k (2015: £500k) 
to reflect the robust defence being 
prepared in response to  
the aggressive tactics being adopted  
by Illumina. 

Also, in July 2015, there was an 
oversubscribed share placing of £8.0m 
with associated fundraising expenses of 
£201k (2015: £739k). In addition, there is a 
non-cash item in the form of a share-
based payments charge of £124k  
(2015: £346k). As noted in the Company’s 
interim results, the deemed cost of the 
reverse acquisition in July 2014 has been 
restated in the prior year to £1,615k.

“The IONA® test is 
designed to allow clinical 
laboratories, even 
without a background in 
DNA analysis technology, 
to offer the new NIPT 
tests”

Strategic and financial review continued
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Finance income/(expenses)
During the period the Group incurred a 
net finance charge of £84k (2015: net 
finance income of £88k), with interest and 
unwinding discounts on the Thermo 
Fisher loan instrument offsetting interest 
earned on cash balances. 

Taxation
The loss on ordinary activities before 
taxation of £12,116k (2015: £7,448k) 
generated a tax loss the benefit of which 
will not be recognised until the Company 
can be more certain of recoverability 
through future profitability.

Foreign exchange
The Group made a loss of £54k  
(2015: £20k gain) on translation of  
its foreign subsidiaries to the 
presentational currency.

Loss per share
The total comprehensive loss of £12,130k 
(2015: £7,428k) represents a loss per share 
of 6 pence (2015: 5 pence).

Balance sheet
At the Balance Sheet date the Group had 
total assets of £10,490k (2015: £5,646k). 
Property, plant and equipment increased 
to £1,936k (2015: £1,347k) due mainly to 
an additional leasehold unit in Manchester 
and capital equipment to furnish the new 
service laboratory. Current assets 
increased to £8,554k (2015: £4,299k) due 
to higher cash and debtors, including an 
£800k R&D tax credit received in May 
2016. 
 
Total equity and liabilities increased to 
£10,490k (2015: £5,646k) with the 
comprehensive loss offset by the equity 
fundraising in July 2015 and the loan 
funding from Thermo Fisher.

Cashflow
The Group had an opening cash position 
of £2,709k (2015: £50k) and generated a 
surplus of £2,628k (2015: £2,660k). Cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the 
period was £5,337k (2015: £2,709k).

During the period the Group had cash 
used in operating activities of £7,042k 
(2015: £5,026k) due to higher operating 
losses and increased net working capital. 
Investing activities generated a deficit of 
£1,131k (2015: surplus £149k) due to 
capital expenditure. The July 2015 
fundraising exercise and the December 
2015 Thermo Fisher loan generated a 
financing surplus of £10,800k (2015: 
£7,537k).

Dividends
No dividend is recommended (2015: £nil) 
due to the early stage nature of the Group.

Capital management 
The Board’s objective is to maintain a 
balance sheet that is both efficient at 
delivering long-term shareholder value 
and also safeguards the Group’s financial 
position in light of variable economic 
cycles and the principal risks and 
uncertainties outlined in this report. As at 
31 March 2016 the Group had cash of 
£5,337k (2015: £2,709k) with no short-
term borrowings (2015: £Nil). The Thermo 
Fisher loan was an initial drawdown of 
£2,760k in December 2015 which will rise 
to £5.0m which is repayable by December 
2023. Interest is allowed to accumulate 
throughout the term of this loan. The 
Board continues to monitor its balance 
sheet to ensure it has an adequate  
capital structure. 

Post-balance sheet events
After the balance sheet date there were a 
number of further procedural hearings in 
the patent litigation process. We believe 
that these developments were largely 
positive for the Company and resulted in 
changes to the way the cases will be 
heard, additional collaboration with a third 
party defending similar claims and the 
formal identification of anti-trust 
objections by Premaitha. Whilst generally 
favourable developments, the impact on 
cost estimates is significant should the 
various cases proceed to trial. Full 
provision for these costs has been 
included in the litigation provision (see 
principal risks section and note 18). In 
September 2016 we announced additional 
loan funding from Thermo Fisher with 
associated warrants being issued, thereby 
giving us the funding to continue our 
commercial progress and product 
development pipeline whilst mounting the 
strongest possible defence. 

Barry Hextall
Chief Financial Officer
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Principal risks and uncertainties
There are number of risks and uncertainties associated with the Group’s activities. The Board 
believes the following are the principal risks, along with the mitigation actions being pursued.

Legal risks

Risk description Impact Mitigation

Intellectual 
Property (IP) 
Litigation

The life sciences industry is characterised by significant litigation 
from patent-holders and their licensees who try to erect 
competitive barriers to entry via IP rights. Non-invasive prenatal 
testing in particular has seen a high level of such activity in the 
USA, Europe and elsewhere, primarily from Illumina, Inc who have 
acquired or licensed IPR in this market segment. The Group is 
currently defending claims brought by Illumina, Inc. against it and 
two of its customers in respect of alleged patent infringement. 
These claims are being robustly defended and such activity 
inevitably involves the Group’s management in focusing its time 
on the defence, which may be to the detriment of the 
development of the Group’s business. Such litigation may also 
affect the willingness of potential clients to do business with the 
Group. In the event that Illumina’s claim is successful the Group 
may be liable for costs, may have license fees imposed upon it or 
may be unable to market its products and will have to develop 
new products before generating further revenue.

The Group has engaged experienced legal 
practitioners and appropriate industry experts to 
assist in defending the claim. In addition to technical 
defences that the asserted IP is not valid and in any 
event is not infringed, the Group has raised anti-trust 
concerns to the European Union’s Competition 
Commission and to the UK Courts. The EU 
Commission has launched a preliminary investigation 
into Illumina’s behaviour, and the UK Courts have 
expressed interest in reviewing their findings. The 
Group is also developing revenue streams in 
territories where these patents are weaker or not 
present so as to limit the impact of any negative 
outcomes. The Group is also exploring opportunities 
in adjacent sectors where the IP rights are not 
applicable and where the Group’s technical and 
commercial capabilities can generate value.

Patents The Group is focused on protecting its intellectual property (“IP”) 
and seeking to avoid infringing third parties’ IP. To protect its 
products, the Group has secured and is seeking to secure patents 
to protect its key products. However, there remains the risk that 
the Group may face opposition from third parties to patents that 
it seeks to have granted and that the outstanding patent 
applications are not granted.

The Group engages reputable legal advisers to 
mitigate the risk of patent infringement and to assist 
with the protection of the Group’s IP.

Changes in 
legislation 

Changes in laws and legislation affecting the diagnostics market 
could have a negative impact on the Group’s business activities 
and consequently may have a detrimental effect upon the future 
trading performance of the Group. The international diagnostics 
industries are highly regulated by governmental authorities in 
Europe, the UK, and the US and by regulatory agencies in other 
countries where the Group intends to market products and 
where its customers operate. No assurance can be given that the 
Group’s products will successfully obtain any necessary 
regulatory approvals to market these products.

In carrying out its activities the Group may also face contractual 
and statutory claims, or other types of claim from customers, 
suppliers and/or investors. In addition, the Group is exposed to 
potential product liability risks that are inherent in the research, 
development, production and supply of its products.

The Group has implemented and proactively 
manages a quality assurance system to meet 
regulatory requirements and to ensure ongoing 
compliance. 

The Group retains a suite of insurance policies to 
protect it from the most likely areas of claim, and 
undertakes risk management practices to minimise 
the number of claims arising.

Market risks

Risk description Impact Mitigation

Competition There is a risk that the Group’s competitors also adopt a product 
based strategy or achieve greater than expected market 
penetration with alternative business models. 

The Group’s continuing product development, 
marketing activities and collaboration with NGS 
platform providers are designed to ensure that  
the IONA® test remains at the forefront of the  
NIPT market.

Procurement There is a risk that UK and international procurement practices 
may create market segments in which the Group is unable to 
effectively offer its products and services. Similarly, competitors 
may seek to influence procurement practices to the 
disadvantage of the Group.

The Group works with policy makers, trade 
organisations and legal advisers to monitor and 
influence any changes in such practices, and also to 
highlight areas where procurement practices may not 
be fair and transparent.

Brexit On 23 June 2016, the UK voted to leave the European Union. At 
the date of signing the financial statements the directors of the 
Group had reviewed the opportunities and risks this brings while 
reviewing the going concern assumption. 

Although uncertainty exists in the UK economy this is 
systemic by nature and the Group’s going concern 
status remains unaffected as a result of the 
referendum on EU membership.
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Financial risks
Risk description Impact Mitigation

Future funding 
requirements

In the longer term, the Group may need to raise additional 
funding to undertake work beyond that being funded by the share 
placing in July 2015 and the Thermo Fisher Scientific loans. There 
is no certainty that such fundraising will be possible at all or on 
acceptable terms. In addition, the terms of any such financing 
may be dilutive to, or otherwise adversely affect, shareholders. 

To manage this risk the Group is actively building its 
revenue generating capabilities and monitors its 
cashflow requirements closely and adjusts activities 
through its periodic business planning process to 
control cash consumption, whilst maintaining a 
dialogue with potential future funders. 

Third party 
reimbursement

The Group may be adversely affected by third party 
reimbursement (such as the UK’s NHS). The Group may not be 
able to sell its products profitably if reimbursement from these 
sources is unavailable or limited. Third party payers are 
increasingly attempting to contain costs through measures that 
could impact the products the Group is developing, including 
challenging the prices charged for products and services, limiting 
both coverage and the amount of reimbursement for new 
diagnostics products and services, and denying or limiting 
coverage for products that are approved by the regulatory 
agencies but are considered experimental by third party payers. 

The Group proactively engages with the clinical 
community to align its product offering with the best 
current medical requirements in order to ensure its 
commercial model is supported by reimbursement 
regimes as they reach their decisions on NIPT 
screening in the coming years.

Operational risks

Risk description Impact Mitigation

Dependence on 
key personnel

The Group has a small management team and the future success 
of the Group, in common with other businesses of a similar size, 
will be highly dependent on the expertise and experience of the 
Board and key management. However, the retention of such key 
personnel cannot be guaranteed. The loss of any key personnel, 
or the inability to attract appropriate personnel could materially 
adversely impact the Group’s business, prospects, financial 
condition or results of operations.

The Group provides attractive remuneration 
incentives and an empowering culture to encourage 
retention of key individuals, as well as recruiting 
suitable deputies over time.

Technology Technologies used within the diagnostics market place are 
constantly evolving and improving. Therefore there is a risk that 
the Group’s products may become outdated as improvements in 
technology are made.

To mitigate this risk the Group has a research and 
development department which seeks to keep up 
with the latest developments in the diagnostic 
devices industry.

Contracts There can be no certainty that third parties will perform, or be 
able to perform, their obligations under various contracts with 
the Group or that the Group will be able to recover damages for 
breach of contract. The insolvency of third parties or their default 
under the terms of such contracts could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group and its operations. 

The Group monitors its contractual commitments, 
supplier strength and outstanding debtor exposures 
closely, developing specific plans where the potential 
impacts would be significant.

The strategic report is signed on behalf of the Board

Adam Reynolds
Chairman
30 September 2016
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Board of Directors

Nicholas Mustoe

Non-executive Director

Nick is CEO of Kindred, a fully 
integrated PR, advertising and 
social media agency. In 2010 Nick 
led an MBO of the company he had 
founded in 1993 after a 
distinguished career in the PR and 
advertising sectors. Nick has 
always had a keen interest in 
business, backing a range of 
start-up companies. He is also 
Chairman of Kempton Park 
Racecourse and a trustee of 
charity Starlight 
Children’s Foundation.

Adam Reynolds

Chairman

Adam has been named as one of 
the 50 most influential people in 
the City by Growth Company 
Investor. Adam was the former 
Chairman of ViaLogy PLC, a 
company he restructured, and 
was instrumental in its 
combination with Premaitha 
Health in July 2014. Adam has also 
rescued and re-financed AIM 
companies including Medavinci, 
Autoclenz, Optibiotix Health and 
Admiral, which is now EKF 
Diagnostics plc. Adam retains 
Board positions and 
shareholdings in several of these.

Dr Stephen Little

Chief Executive Officer

Stephen is a successful serial 
biotechnology entrepreneur. He is 
the former CEO of DxS, an 
innovator in the field of 
personalised medicine, 
developing and manufacturing 
companion diagnostics. DxS was 
sold to QIAGEN BV in 2009 for 
£85m where Stephen became 
Vice President of Personalised 
Healthcare. Prior to his leading 
role at DxS, Stephen worked for 
20 years in various senior 
diagnostics positions in 
AstraZeneca and ICI. He holds a 
PhD from Heriot-Watt University 
in Edinburgh.
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Peter Collins

Chief Commercial Officer

Peter is a seasoned executive in 
the molecular diagnostics arena 
with a wealth of experience in 
strategic leadership, business 
development and 
commercialisation. Prior to 
Premaitha, Peter was Vice 
President, Head of Diagnostics at 
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK). Before 
GSK, Peter was VP of Pharma 
Business Development for 
QIAGEN BV and its predecessor 
business DxS. Peter has also held 
a number of senior roles across 
the diagnostics industry for 
start-ups and blue chips. Peter 
was a founder of EPEMED, a 
not-for-profit organisation 
bringing together global forces in 
personalised medicine.

Dr William (Pepper) Denman

Chief Medical Officer

Dr Denman MB ChB, FRCA, 
instructs at Massachusetts 
General Hospital, specialising in 
paediatric anaesthesia and 
medical device development and 
has significant experience in the 
clinical aspects of device and 
diagnostic development. 
Previously he was CMO at 
Loxbridge Research LLP, at GE 
Healthcare with responsibility for 
patient safety, and at Covidien 
where he was responsible for 
strategic direction of medical and 
clinical affairs and healthcare 
economics. He studied medicine 
at the University of Aberdeen.

Barry Hextall

Chief Financial Officer

Barry is a Chartered Management 
Accountant with over 15 years’ 
experience in senior financial 
roles, including with AIM-listed 
organisations. He has managed 
many international businesses 
through major changes and rapid 
growth, and has significant 
experience working in the medical 
devices and diagnostic sectors, 
including JRI Orthopaedics Ltd 
and Immunodiagnostic Systems 
plc. Barry has a Certificate in 
Company Direction from the 
Institute of Directors and an MBA 
from Cranfield School of 
Management.
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Corporate governance report

Introduction
The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good governance. The following statement describes the key corporate 
governance policies that have been adopted by the Company. The Company is not required to follow, and does not claim compliance 
with, the UK Corporate Governance Code. Nevertheless, the Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance which it 
considers are critical to business integrity and to maintaining investors’ trust. The information in this Corporate governance report is 
not subject to audit.

The role of the Board
The Directors collectively bring a broad range of business experience to the Board which is considered essential for the effective 
management of the Company. The Board is responsible for strategic and major operational issues affecting the Company. It reviews 
financial performance, regulatory compliance, monitors key performance indicators and will consider any matters of significance to 
the Company, including corporate activity. Certain matters can only be decided by the Board and these are contained in the schedule 
of matters reserved to the Board. The day-to-day management of the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive Directors of the Company. 

The composition of the Board and division of responsibilities
The Board currently consists of a Non-executive Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer, three Executive Directors and a Non-executive 
Director. The composition of the Board ensures that no single individual or group of individuals is able to dominate the decision-
making process. Details of the individual Directors and their biographies are set out on pages 20 to 21.

Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate to ensure a clear division of authority and responsibility at the 
most senior level within the Company.

Chairman
David Evans served as Chairman for the whole reporting period then resigned on 8 September 2016. Adam Reynolds returned as 
Chairman from that date. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board and ensuring the effective running and 
management of the Board. He is also responsible for the Board’s oversight of the Company’s affairs, which includes ensuring that the 
Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information, ensuring the effective contribution of the Non-executive Directors and 
implementing effective communication with shareholders. 

Chief Executive Officer
Dr Stephen Little remained CEO throughout the reporting period. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day 
management and the executive leadership of the business . His other responsibilities include the progress and development of 
objectives for the Company, managing the Company’s risk exposure, implementing the decisions of the Board and ensuring effective 
communication with shareholders and regulatory bodies.

Non-executive Directors and independence
Throughout the period the Board had three Non-executive Directors, with one resigning after the period close to pursue other 
interests. Non-executive Directors bring independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the board. The Non-executive 
Directors have confirmed that they are able to allocate sufficient time to the company to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association all serving directors are subject to re-election every three years. Given the 
July 2014 appointment of several Directors a shorter rotation schedule has been defined to ensure that at least one-third of Directors 
are re-elected each year. Once this rotation schedule has run its course then a three-year re-election cycle will operate.

Board meetings and information to the Board 
Before each Board meeting the Directors receive, on a timely basis, comprehensive papers and reports on the issues to be discussed 
at the meeting. In addition to Board papers, Directors are provided with relevant information between meetings.

The Board has regular scheduled meetings. During the period there were nine scheduled meetings.
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Board committees and Senior Independent Director
The Board has three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee. In 
addition, it has identified a Senior Independent Director.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Adam Reynolds with Nicholas Mustoe also a member. The Committee is responsible for:
• reviewing the Company’s financial reporting process, including the financial statements, reports and announcements and the 

accounting policies and judgments that underline them, and making recommendations to the Board before release;
• monitoring the statutory audit of the annual accounts;
• monitoring of the independence of the external auditors and the establishment of a policy for their use for non-audit work.

The Committee’s activities were reported to the Board throughout the period. 

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee has delegated responsibility from the Board for identifying and appointing Executive Directors. David 
Evans chaired the Committee throughout the period and Adam Reynolds now chairs the Committee which is also attended by all 
other Non-executive Directors. The Committee’s activities were reported to the Board throughout the period. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee has delegated responsibility from the Board for developing the remuneration policy of the Company 
and for setting the remuneration of its executive Directors and senior managers. David Evans chaired the Committee throughout the 
period and Adam Reynolds now chairs the Committee with Nicholas Mustoe a continuing member. The Committee’s activities were 
reported to the Board throughout the period. 

Senior Independent Director
The Board has identified Nicholas Mustoe as the Senior Independent Director to provide an alternative contact point for Directors 
and shareholders for matters where they do not wish to approach the Chairman directly. 

Investor relations
The Company places a great deal of importance on communicating with its shareholders. All shareholders are given at least 21 days 
notice of the Annual General Meeting and are encouraged to attend. An opportunity is provided for them to ask questions at the 
meeting. The Chief Executive Officer is in regular contact with the Company’s major institutional investors throughout the period and 
he is responsible for ensuring that shareholders’ views are communicated to the Board as a whole. In February 2016, the Company 
appointed finnCap as joint broker to Panmure Gordon, to further improve the quality and quantity of investor relations activities.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Adam Reynolds
Chairman
30 September 2016
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2016.

Results and dividends
The consolidated income statement is set out on page 28 and shows the comprehensive loss for the period.

The Directors do not recommend a final ordinary dividend for the period (2015: £Nil).

Directors
Adam Reynolds
Nicholas Mustoe 
Dr Charles Roberts (resigned 8 July 2016)
Dr Stephen Little 
Peter Collins 
Barry Hextall (appointed 4 June 2015)
David Evans (resigned 8 September 2016)
Mark Collingbourne (resigned 4 June 2015)
Dr William Denman (appointed 1 November 2015)

The Directors of the Group held the following beneficial interests in the shares and share options of Premaitha Health PLC at the date 
of this report:

Issued share capital Share options

Ordinary
shares of

£0.10 each
Percentage

held 

Ordinary
shares of 

£0.10 each

Option
exercise

price

Adam Reynolds 2,801,137 1.2% 591,666 £0.10
Nicholas Mustoe 3,909,091 1.7% 591,666 £0.10
Dr Stephen Little 2,772,727 1.2% 12,055,984 £0.20
Peter Collins 3,522,727 1.5% 5,638,174 £0.20
Barry Hextall 151,762 0.1% 1,000,000 £0.20
Dr William Denman 250,000 0.1% 2,654,989 £0.10

Principal activities, trading review and future developments
A detailed review of the business, post reporting date events and likely future developments is given in the Chairman’s statement and 
the Strategic Report on pages 16 to 19.
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Key performance indicators
The key performance indicators are discussed in the Strategic Report on page 17.

Financial instruments
Details and required disclosure of the financial instruments used by the Group are contained in note 21 of the financial statements.

Events after the reporting date
Significant events that have occurred since the reporting date are detailed in the Strategic Report on page 19 and within note 30 of 
these financial statements.

Risks and uncertainties
The main business risks facing the group are discussed in the principal risks and uncertainties section of this report on pages 20 to 21. 
Note 18 details further information on the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.

Donations and political contributions
The Group made no donations or political contributions in the current or prior period. 

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions
The Group has arranged qualifying third party indemnity for Directors and Officers Liability insurance for the sum of £5m.

Going concern
Following a detailed review of the Group’s financial plans, as described on page 34, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements 
set out on pages 30 to 53 have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Substantial shareholdings
As at 12 September 2016, the following interests in 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital appear in the register:

Shareholder 
Number of 

shares

Percentage of 
issued share 

capital

Helium Partners Rising Stars Fund 29,373,230 12.9%
Hargreave Hale Limited 21,858,754 9.6%
Calculus Capital Limited 14,984,140 6.6%
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Directors’ responsibilities statement 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected 
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 

statements;
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in 

business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors confirm that: 
• so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
• the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Adam Reynolds
Chairman
30 September 2016
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Premaitha Health PLC

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Premaitha Health PLC
We have audited the financial statements of Premaitha Health PLC for the year ended 31 March 2016 which comprise the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the consolidated statement of cash flows, the parent company statement of financial position, the parent company 
statement of changes in equity, the parent company statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page x, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2016 

and of the group’s loss for the year then ended; 
• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Stuart Muskett
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Manchester
30 September 2016
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Notes

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

(restated,  
note 10)

£

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 2,452,378 132,267
Cost of sales (1,751,395) –

Gross profit 700,983 132,267

 General administrative expenses (6,573,384) (4,468,129)
 Fundraising expenses 4 (201,340) (738,604)
 Deemed cost of reverse acquisition 4 – (1,615,282)
 Increase in litigation provision 4 (5,834,345) (500,000)
 Share-based payments 4 (124,089) (345,769)

Total administrative expenses (12,733,158) (7,667,784)

Operating loss 4 (12,032,175) (7,535,517)

Financing income 5 15,000 88,005
Financing expenses 6 (99,232) –

Net financing (expenses)/income (84,232) 88,005

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (12,116,407) (7,447,512)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities 9 39,545 –

Loss from continuing operations (12,076,862) (7,447,512)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Exchange translation differences (53,599) 19,558

Total comprehensive loss (12,130,461) (7,427,954)

Attributable to :
Owner of the parent (12,130,461) (7,427,954)

(12,130,461) (7,427,954)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted (£) 11 0.06 0.05

The notes on pages 34 to 53 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share 
capital 

£

Share 
premium 

£

Merger relief 
reserve 

£

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 
(restated) 

£

Currency 
translation 

reserve
£

Warrants
reserve

£

Retained losses 
(restated) 

£

Total equity 
(restated)* 

£

13 months ended 31 March 
2015

Balance at 1 March 2014 12,046,223 22,813,765 – – – – (1,565,669) 33,294,319

Loss for the period as 
previously reported – – – – – – (6,797,197) (6,797,197)

Prior period adjustment 
(note 10) – – – – – – (650,315) (650,315)

Restated loss for the period – – – – – – (7,447,512) (7,447,512)
Other comprehensive income – – – – 19,558 – 19,558

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the period – – – – 19,558 – (7,447,512) (7,427,954)

Transactions with owners
Issue of share capital 16,126,910 658,147 954,545 – – – – 17,739,602
Share issue expenses – (164,891) – – – – – (164,891)
Share-based payment – – – – – – 402,154 402,154

Reverse acquisition as  
previously reported – – – (40,597,348) – – – (40,597,348)

Prior year adjustment – – – 650,315 – – – 650,315

Restated reverse acquisition (39,947,033) – – – (39,947,033)
Total transactions with 

owners 16,126,910 493,256 954,545 (39,947,033) – – 402,154 (21,970,168)

Balance at 31 March 2015 28,173,133 23,307,021 954,545 (39,947,033) 19,558 – (8,611,027) 3,896,197

12 months ended 31 March 
2016

Balance at 1 April 2015 28,173,133 23,307,021 954,545 (39,947,033) 19,558 – (8,611,027) 3,896,197
Loss for the period – – – – – (12,076,862) (12,076,862)
Other comprehensive 

expense – – – – (53,599) – – (53,599)

Total comprehensive  
expense for the period – – – – (53,599) – (12,076,862) (12,130,461)

Transactions with owners
Issue of share capital 4,000,000 4,000,000 – – – – – 8,000,000
Share issue expenses (283,360) – – – – – (283,360)
Share-based payment – – – – – – 234,596 234,596
Warrants issued – – – – – 1,770,363 – 1,770,363

Total transactions with 
owners 4,000,000 3,716,640 – – – 1,770,363 234,596 9,721,599

Balance at 31 March 2016 32,173,133 27,023,661 954,545 (39,947,033) (34,041) 1,770,363 (20,453,293) 1,487,335

* See note 10

The notes on pages 34 to 53 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2016

Notes

As at 
31 March 2016

£

As at 
31 March 2015

(restated,  
note 10)

£

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,935,891 1,347,280

Total non-current assets 1,935,891 1,347,280

Current assets
Inventories 14 461,407 450,038
Trade and other receivables 15 1,661,275 339,354
Cash and cash equivalents 16 5,336,859 2,709,355
Tax asset 1,094,643 800,454

Total current assets 8,554,184 4,299,201

Total assets 10,490,075 5,646,481

Equity and liabilities attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Share capital 22 32,173,133 28,173,133
Share premium 22 27,023,661 23,307,021
Merger relief reserve 24 954,545 954,545
Reverse acquisition reserve 24 (39,947,033) (39,947,033)
Foreign exchange translation reserve 24 (34,041) 19,558
Warrants reserve 23 1,770,363 –
Accumulated deficit 24 (20,453,293) (8,611,027)

Total equity 1,487,335 3,896,197

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 2,091,964 1,085,818
Provisions 18 5,386,326 500,000

Total current liabilities 7,478,290 1,585,818

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability 20 – 39,545
Provisions 18 161,683 124,921
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 1,362,767 –

Total non-current liabilities 1,524,450 164,466

Total equity and liabilities 10,490,075 5,646,481

The financial statements on pages 30 to 53 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 
30 September 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Adam Reynolds
Chairman

The notes on pages 34 to 53 form part of these financial statements.

Company number: 3971582
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2016

Notes

12 months to
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

(restated,  
note 10)

£

Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before tax (12,116,407) (7,447,512)
Adjustments for:
 Finance income (15,000) (88,005)
 Finance expenses 99,232 –
 Deemed cost of reverse acquisition – 1,615,282
 Depreciation 557,323 258,413
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 98,707
 Increase in litigation provision 4,886,326 500,000
 Share option and warrant expense 234,596 402,154
 Foreign exchange movements (53,599) (11,806)
 R&D tax credit (294,189) (800,454)

(6,701,718) (5,473,221)
Changes in working capital:
 Increase in inventories (11,369) (450,038)
 Increase in trade and other receivables (1,371,470) (52,818)
 Increase in trade and other payables 1,006,146 695,722
 Increase in provisions 36,762 –

Cash used in operating activities (7,041,649) (5,280,355)
R&D tax credit received – 254,259

Net cash used in operating activities (7,041,649) (5,026,096)

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of parent, net of cash acquired – 1,229,128
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (1,146,543) (1,168,110)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 610 –
Interest received 5 15,000 88,005
Interest paid 6 (3) –

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (1,130,936) 149,023

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity instruments 7,716,640 7,074,711
Proceeds from borrowing 3,083,450 461,867

Net cash from financing activities 10,800,090 7,536,578

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,627,504 2,659,505
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,709,355 49,850

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 16 5,336,859 2,709,355

The notes on pages 34 to 53 form part of these financial statements..
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Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements

1 Principal accounting policies
Premaitha Health PLC (‘the Company’) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of 
its registered office is St James’ House, St James Square, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, England, GL50 3PR. The consolidated 
financial statements of the Company as at and for the period ended 31 March 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as ‘the Group’). The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The principal activity of Premaitha Health PLC and its subsidiaries is that of that of a molecular diagnostics business for research into, 
and the development and commercialisation of gene analysis techniques for pre-natal screening and other clinical applications in the 
early detection, monitoring and treatment of disease.

Basis of preparation
This financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), including IFRIC 
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union and with those parts 
of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The Company financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced disclosure framework’ (FRS 101).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Those areas involving a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial information are disclosed below.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 
consolidated financial statements.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following new standards and interpretations are currently in issue but not effective, based on EU mandatory effective dates, for 
accounting periods commencing on 1 April 2015: 
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IASB effective date 1 January 2018)*
• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019). When effective this will result in the recognition of a liability in respect of the Group’s 

operating lease commitments
• Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation – Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 (effective 1 January 2016)
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (effective 1 January 2016)
• Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2016)
• Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2016)
• IFRS 16 Leases (IASB effective date 1 January 2019)*
• Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (IASB effective date 1 January 2017)*
• Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (IASB effective date 

1 January 2018)*
• Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative (IASB effective date 1 January 2017)*

* Not adopted by the EU (as at 27 September 2016)

(b) Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Going concern
Following a detailed review of the Group’s forecasts and available financial resources, the directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in existence for the foreseeable future.  

In their review of the Group’s forecasts, the directors have particularly focused on the patent infringement legal strategy and the rate 
of growth of revenue.

Detailed sensitivity analysis has been performed to assess the potential impact on the Group’s liquidity of delays in revenue growth 
against budgeted levels, and the potential mitigating actions which can be taken to safeguard the Group’s cash position and enable it 
to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due. These include working capital controls and reductions in discretionary spending.  

The directors have also assessed the Group’s ability to meet its commitments in respect of the on-going patent infringement 
litigation claims as detailed in note 18.  The directors have concluded that the Group’s working capital and the loan facilities currently 
in place are sufficient for the Group to meet its projected cash outflows in respect of the day to day operations and the litigation. 
Based upon their review of the forecasts and available facilities, the directors have concluded that that the Group can continue to 
operate as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of signing of the financial statements.
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Revenue 
Revenue from the sale of goods and equipment is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, which is determined to be at the point of despatch.

Revenue from the provision of testing and reporting services is recognised upon delivery of the report to the customer.

Grant income is recognised when all conditions for receiving the grant have been satisfied.

Operating segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. 

Basis of consolidation
Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity or 
business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements present the 
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) as if they form a single entity. Inter-company transactions and balances 
between Group companies are therefore eliminated in full.

In July 2014 Premaitha Health PLC acquired via a share for share exchange the entire share capital of Premaitha Limited. Under IFRS 3 
‘Business combinations’ the Premaitha Limited share exchange has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition.

Although the consolidated financial information has been issued in the name of the legal parent Premaitha Health PLC, it represents 
in substance continuation of the financial information of the legal subsidiary Premaitha Limited.

The assets and liabilities of the legal subsidiary, Premaitha Limited, are recognised and measured in the Group financial statements at 
the pre-combination carrying amounts, without restatement to fair value. The retained earnings and other equity balances 
recognised in the Group financial statements reflect the retained earnings and other equity balances of Premaitha Health PLC 
immediately before the business combination and the results of the period from 1 March 2014 to the date of the business combination 
are those of Premaitha Limited.

However, the equity structure appearing in the Group financial statements reflects the equity structure of the legal parent, 
Premaitha Health PLC, including the equity instruments issued in order to effect the business combination.

The aggregate deemed fair value of the consideration paid, assets and liabilities acquired and resulting charge to the income 
statement in respect of the above acquisition is £1,615,282. Refer to note 10 for the details of the prior period adjustment in respect 
of the reverse acquisition. 

Merger relief reserve
The reserve represents a premium on the issue of the ordinary shares for the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings. The relief is only 
available to the issuing company securing at least a 90% equity holding in the acquired undertaking in pursuance of an arrangement 
providing for the allotment of equity shares in the issuing company on terms that the consideration for the shares allotted is to be 
provided by the issue of equity shares in the other company.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making allowance for obsolete and slow moving items. Cost 
includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other cost in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. Cost includes the original purchase price, costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use, dismantling and restoration costs.

Depreciation is provided on all items of property, plant and equipment to write off the carrying value of items over their expected 
useful lives. Depreciation is applied at the following rates:

Plant and equipment  20-25% straight line
Short leasehold property  20% straight line

Share-based payments
Where share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the vesting period. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of 
equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting 
period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options 
granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions 
are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition.
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Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the income statement over the remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees, the income statement is charged with the fair value of 
goods and services received.

Tax
The major components of income tax on the profit or loss from ordinary activities include current and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed and is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end date.

Income tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when the tax relates to items credited or charged directly to 
equity, in which case the tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial 
position differs to its tax base, except for differences arising on:
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting or taxable profit; and 
• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that the taxable profit will be available against 
which the differences can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting 
date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/(recovered). Deferred tax balances are 
not discounted.

Foreign currency
The functional currency of the parent entity and UK subsidiary is pounds sterling. The functional currency of the US subsidiary is US 
dollars. Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other than the reporting currency are recorded at the rates ruling 
when the transaction occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the statement of 
financial position date. Exchange differences arising on the re-translation of the unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are similarly 
recognised in the income statement.

On consolidation, the results of overseas operations are translated into sterling at rates approximating to those ruling when the 
transactions took place. All assets and liabilities of overseas operations are translated at the rate ruling at the reporting date.

Presentation currency
These accounts have been presented in Sterling as the Directors consider this to be most useful form of presentation to the shareholders. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly liquid investments 
maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the purpose for which the asset was 
acquired. The Group accounting policy for each category is as follows:

Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise 
principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of contractual 
monetary asset. They are measured subsequent to initial recognition at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A financial liability is a contractual 
obligation to either deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to exchange a financial asset or financial liability with 
another entity, including obligations which may be settled by the Group using its equity instruments. An equity instrument is any 
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies 
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

1 Principal accounting policies continued
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Financial liabilities
At initial recognition, financial liabilities (trade and other payables), are measured at their fair value plus, if appropriate, any 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liability. These financial liabilities are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction from proceeds.

Share warrants that are issued within the scope of IFRS 2 (as detailed in note 22) are measured at fair value at each reporting period 
end. They are classified as equity instruments based on the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Equity Instruments 
Instruments classified as equity under IAS 32 are measured at fair value on inception. Subsequent changes in the value of the 
instrument are not recognised in the financial statements. 

Financing income and expenses 
Financing expenses comprise interest payable and finance charges recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
Financing income comprises interest receivable on funds invested. Interest income and interest payable is recognised I profit or loss 
as it accrued, using the effective interest rate method.

Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised in profit in the year in which it is incurred. 

Internal development expenditure is capitalised only if it meets the recognition criteria of IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. Where regulatory and 
other uncertainties are such that the criteria are not met, the expenditure is recognised in profit. At 31 March 2016 no amounts have met 
recognition criteria.

Leasing
An operating lease is defined as a lease in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of the leased asset remain with the lessor. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for the benefit of its employees. Contributions payable are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period they are payable.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Where the effect of 
the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty
When preparing the financial statements, management makes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Significant management judgement
The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the most significant 
effect on the financial statements.

Treatment of Thermo Fisher loan and warrant arrangements
During the year, the Group entered into a loan arrangement with Life Technologies Limited (“Thermo Fisher”), under the terms of 
which Thermo Fisher provided a loan facility of £5m to the Group. On the same day, the Group entered into a share warrant 
agreement with Thermo Fisher. The Group has assessed the accounting treatment of the loan and warrant agreements and have 
concluded that, although they are separate financial instruments, it is necessary to allocate the initial proceeds received between the 
loan and the warrants based on their fair values, because the instruments were entered into at the same time. 
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Having considered the terms of the warrants, it has been concluded that they represent an equity instrument under IAS 32, which is 
recognised at fair value on the date of inception. The loan has been initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Please refer to note 23 for further details.

The fair value of the loan is considered to be the residual proceeds after assessing the fair value of the warrant.

Estimation uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.

Patent infringement litigation provision
Premaitha is defending two patent infringement litigation claims which claim that Premaitha’s non-invasive pre-natal test infringes 
patents owned or licensed by the claimants. The first claim was filed in March 2015 by the claimants Illumina, Inc., Seequenom, Inc. 
and Stanford University. The second claim was filed in September 2015 by the claimants Illumina, Inc. and the Chinese University of 
Hong Kong. The cases are due to be heard in the UK High Court in 2017.

The Group has assessed the expected costs of defending these claims, and has provided in full for the expected litigation costs. The 
Group recognised a provision in the prior year financial statements of £500,000 for expected litigation costs in respect of the first 
claim. Following the filing of the second claim, and a re-assessment of the Group’s legal strategy and the litigation costs expected to 
be incurred in defending both claims, the provision has been increased to £5,386,326. The actual costs incurred may be affected by 
the outcome and the duration of the claims. As the Group cannot reliably estimate what proportion of the litigation costs will be paid 
after more than 12 months from the reporting date, the amount is classified as current.

3 Segmental analysis
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has one class of business in two geographic locations, a molecular diagnostics business 
based in the UK which sells into the UK and Rest of World geographic areas. 

The Group is therefore considered to have a single operating segment which is monitored by the Group’s chief operating decision 
makers. Strategic decisions are made on the basis of unadjusted operating results.

Revenue, analysed by category, was as follows:

 Year ended  
31 March 

2016 
£ 

13 months to 
31 March 

2015 
£ 

Sales of goods 2,005,782 –
Rendering of services 74,548 4,767
Non recurring sales of equipment 372,048 –
Grant Income – 127,500

2,452,378 132,267

Revenue and non-current assets, analysed by geographical area, was as follows:

 Year ended 31 March 2016  Year ended 31 March 2016

 Revenue 
£ 

 Non-current 
assets 

£ 
 Revenue 

£ 

 Non-current 
assets 

£ 

UK 738,333 1,935,891 132,267 1,347,280
Rest of world 1,714,045 – – –

2,452,378 1,935,891 132,267 1,347,280

During 2016, the first year of trading revenues for the Group, £2,047,219 (83.5%) (2015: £Nil) of the Group’s revenue depended on two 
customers who each represented more than 10% of Group revenues. £1,560,319 (63.6%) related to one customer and £486,900 
(19.9%) related to the other.

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty continued
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4 Operating loss
The following items have been included in arriving at the operating loss for continuing operations:

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Research and development 902,948 1,847,546
R&D tax credit (294,189) (800,454)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 557,323 258,413
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 98,707
Operating lease rentals:
– land and buildings 169,946 95,923
– other 8,697 1,803

Services provided by the Group’s auditor 

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Audit of the statutory consolidated and company financial statements of Premaitha Health PLC 22,500 –
Disclosure below based on amounts receivable in respect of other services to the Company and 

its subsidiaries
Amounts receivable by the Company’s auditor and its associates in respect of:
– Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the Company 10,000 –
– Tax advisory services 14,457 –

Services provided by the Group’s previous auditor – Jeffreys Henry LLP

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Audit of the statutory consolidated and company financial statements of Premaitha Health Plc 2,741 20,000
Disclosure below based on amounts receivable in respect of other services to the Company and its 

subsidiaries
Amounts receivable by the Company’s Auditor and its associates in respect of:
– Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the Company – 10,000
– Services related to corporate finance transactions – 40,000
– Other non-audit services 19,810 2,500

Services are provided by other professional advisers as deemed necessary by the management team.

Separately disclosed items

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

(restated)
£

Separately disclosed items within administrative expenses
Fundraising expenses 201,340 738,604
Deemed cost of reverse acquisition – 1,615,282
Increase in litigation provision 5,834,345 500,000
Share-based payments 124,089 345,769

Total separately disclosed items 6,159,774 3,199,655

• Fundraising expenses relate to professional and other fees relating to the issuing of shares and warrants.
• The deemed cost of reverse acquisition is the aggregate deemed fair value of the consideration paid, assets and liabilities acquired 

and resulting charge to the income statement in respect of the acquisition of Premaitha Limited by Premaitha Health PLC.
• The litigation expenses relate to additional provision provided for the expected total costs of defending the company against a 

claim of patent infringement (see note 18).
• Share-based payment costs relate to the provision made in accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’ following the issue of 

share options issued to employees and other persons subsequent to admission to AIM.
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5 Finance income

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Interest received 15,000 88,005

15,000 88,005

6 Finance cost

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Interest on other loans and borrowings 49,683 –
Discount on other loans and receivables at amortised cost 49,549 –

99,232 –

7 Employees and Directors
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during each year, analysed by category, was as follows:

Year ended
31 March 2016

No.

13 months to
31 March 2015

No.

Directors 7 6
Administrative 21 6
Research and development 15 13

43 25

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Wages and salaries 1,885,532 1,334,866
Social security costs 147,104 116,778
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 80,810 27,121
Share-based payments (note 24) 124,089 345,769

2,237,535 1,824,534

8 Directors
The remuneration of the Directors and the Chairman, who are the key management of the Group, is set out below:

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Directors’ emoluments 775,317 403,496
Share-based payments (note 25) 80,881 224,537

856,198 628,033

The remuneration of the directors during the period was as follows:

Salaries
£

Share-based
payment

£
Fees

£
Total 2016

£
Total 2015

£

Peter Collins – 12,114 214,308 226,422 153,185
Dr Stephen Little 132,604 44,097 – 176,701 207,614
Mark Collingbourne – – 12,833 12,833 95,078
Dr Charles Roberts 25,000 – – 25,000 18,750
Adam Reynolds – 2,344 137,900 140,244 74,828
Nicholas Mustoe – 2,344 25,000 27,344 56,078
David Evans – – 30,000 30,000 22,500
Dr William Denman – 5,704 63,492 69,196 –
Barry Hextall 134,180 14,278 – 148,458 –

291,784 80,881 483,533 856,198 628,033

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
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Emoluments of the highest paid director were £226,422 (2015: £207,614). 

Not included in the above was a fee of £25,000 and a fee of £20,000 paid to Adam Reynolds and Mark Collingbourne in respect of 
consultancy services for the reverse acquisition in 2015.

For disclosure in relation to Nicholas Mustoe’s fees please refer to note 27.

9 Taxation on profits from ordinary activities

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

£

Current tax expense
UK corporation tax – –
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (39,545) –

Total tax expense (39,545) –

The reason for the difference between the actual tax credit for the period and the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK applied to 
losses for the period are as follows:

Factors affecting the tax charge for the period

Year ended
31 March 2016

£

13 months to
31 March 2015

(restated)
£

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (12,116,407) (7,447,512)

UK corporation tax of 20% (2015: 20%) (2,423,281) (1,489,502)
Effects of:
Tax-rate differences in foreign jurisdictions 7,822 - 
Non-deductible expenses 1,015,551 381,349
Deferred tax not recognised (21,211) (80,912)
R&D tax credit 176,425 (160,091)
Tax losses carried forward 1,244,694 1,349,156
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (deferred tax) (39,545)

Total tax expense (39,545) –

The Research and development tax credit of £294,189 (2015: £800,454) is shown as a deduction against general administrative expenses.

The Group is required to estimate the income tax in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. This requires an estimation of the 
current tax liability together with an assessment of the temporary differences which arise as a consequence of different accounting 
and tax treatments. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets or liabilities which are included within the statement of 
financial position. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected to apply when the 
temporary differences reverse. Management judgement is required to determine the total provision for income tax. Amounts 
accrued are based on management’s interpretation of country specific tax law and the likelihood of settlement.

Factors that may affect future tax charges
The Group has estimated trading losses of £8,228,622 (2015: £2,463,894), estimated excess management fees of £6,082,666 
(2015: £5,251,864), non-trade loan relationship deficits of £100,063 (2015: £nil) and capital losses of £1,934,399 (2015: £1,934,399).

The tax losses have resulted in a potential deferred tax asset of approximately £3,258,350 (2015: £1,930,031) which has not been 
recognised as it is uncertain the future taxable profits will be sufficient to utilise the losses.

ViaLogy LLC may be entitled to further tax losses not reflected in the above. The maximum amount of losses available is $6,000,000, 
however this is subject to an annual limitation which is estimated at $250,000 per year. At the reporting date the accrued potential 
losses claimable are estimated at $2,250,000 (2015: $2,000,000). The losses disclosed in relation to the US have not been agreed with 
the US taxation authorities and thus are the best estimate of management as at 31 March 2016.
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10 Prior period adjustments
The comparatives for the year-ended 31 March 2015 have been amended in these financial statements to reflect an error in the 
accounting for the reverse acquisition of Premaitha Health PLC and its subsidiaries.

The deemed fair value of the consideration for this reverse acquisition was previously stated at £2,308,094. Subsequent to the prior 
period adjustment this has been amended to a fair value of £2,958,409. The resulting charge to the income statement in respect of 
the acquisition has, consequently, increased from £964,967 to £1,615,282.

This increase in the fair value also causes a decrease in the reverse acquisition reserve from £40,597,348 to £39,947,033.

This adjustment, and the consequential increase in the loss after tax attributable to the parent company for the year to 31 March 
2015, results in an increase in the basic loss per share to £0.05 compared to the previously reported loss of £0.04 per share. 

11 Loss per share
Basic
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the total comprehensive loss for the period of £12,130,461 (2015: loss £7,427,954) by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period 218,109,064 (2015: 151,891,657).

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share dilute the basic earnings per share to take into account share options and warrants. The calculation 
includes the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would have been issued on the conversion of all the dilutive share 
operations and warrants into ordinary shares. 58,993,088 options and warrants (2015: 33,307,884) have been excluded from this 
calculation as the effect would be anti-dilutive.

12 Plant, property and equipment
Short leasehold

properties
£

Plant and
equipment

£
Total

£

Cost
Balance at 1 March 2014 102,887 418,413 521,300
Additions 335,567 832,543 1,168,110
Disposals – (601,178) (601,178)
Additions through reverse acquisition – 606,826 606,826
Foreign exchange movements – (3,853) (3,853)

Balance at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 438,454 1,252,751 1,691,205

Additions 144,284 1,002,259 1,146,543
Disposals – (1,794) (1,794)

Balance at 31 March 2016 582,738 2,253,216 2,835,954

Depreciation and amortisation
Balance at 1 March 2014 6,859 78,061 84,920
Depreciation charge for the period 58,455 199,958 258,413
Disposals – (502,471) (502,471)
Additions through reverse acquisition – 503,063 503,063

Balance at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 65,314 278,611 343,925

Depreciation charge for the period 104,036 453,287 557,323
Disposals – (1,185) (1,185)

Balance at 31 March 2016 169,350 730,713 900,063

Net book value
At 31 March 2016 413,388 1,522,503 1,935,891

At 1 April 2015 373,140 974,140 1,347,280

At 1 March 2014 96,028 340,352 436,380

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
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13 Subsidiaries
Premaitha Health PLC has two US subsidiaries, ViaLogy LLC and Vialogy Energy Corp. (‘VEC'), which have been included in these 
consolidated financial statements: both subsidiaries are dormant.

Premaitha Limited is a UK subsidiary whose principal activity is that of a molecular diagnostics company employing next generation 
DNA analysis technology to develop, manufacture and sell molecular diagnostic products intended to have a major beneficial impact 
on human health.

Premaitha GmbH is a German subsidiary whose principal activity is that of a sales office for the UK subsidiary.

Name
Country of 

incorporation
Country of 

operation Holding

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest and 
share capital 

held

Premaitha Limited UK UK Direct 100%
Premaitha GmbH Germany Germany Direct 100%
ViaLogy LLC USA USA Direct 100%
Vialogy Energy Corp. USA USA Indirect 75%

14 Inventories

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Raw materials 13,569 –
Work in progress 142,195 –
Finished goods and goods for resale 305,643 450,038

461,407 450,038

Finished goods recognised as cost of sales in the year amounted to £1,751,395 (2015: £Nil).

15 Trade and other receivables

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Trade receivables 964,168 –
Other loans and receivables at amortised cost 259,396 –
Other receivables 301,566 211,164
Prepayments 136,145 128,190

1,661,275 339,354

There has been no provision made for doubtful receivables in either the current or preceding financial period, as the Board consider all 
receivables to be recoverable.

The book values of trade and other receivables approximate to the fair values.

16 Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Cash at bank and on hand 807,599 593,948
Short term bank deposits 4,529,260 2,115,407

5,336,859 2,709,355

17 Trade and other payables

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Trade payables 1,103,466 937,472
Social security and other taxes 58,382 67,482
Other payables 24,481 21,317
Accrued expenses 905,635 59,547

2,091,964 1,085,818

The book value of trade and other payables approximate to the fair values. See note 21 for maturity analysis.
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18 Provisions

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Current liabilities
Litigation provision 5,386,326 500,000
Non-current liabilities
Dilapidation provision 161,683 124,921

5,548,009 624,921

Litigation provision
Premaitha is defending two patent infringement litigation claims filed in the English courts which claim that Premaitha’s non-invasive 
pre-natal test infringes patents owned or licensed by the claimants. The first claim was filed in March 2015 by the claimants Illumina, 
Inc., Seequenom, Inc. and Stanford University. The second claim was filed in September 2015 by the claimants Illumina, Inc. and the 
Chinese University of Hong Kong. The cases are due to be heard in the UK High Court in 2017.

The Group has assessed the expected costs of defending these claims, and has provided in full for the expected litigation costs. The 
Group recognised a provision in the prior year financial statements of £500,000 for expected litigation costs in respect of the first 
claim. Following the filing of the second claim, and a re-assessment of the Group’s legal strategy and the litigation costs expected to 
be incurred in defending both claims, the provision has been increased to £5,386,326.

Litigation
provision

£

At 1 March 2014 –
Increase in provision 500,000
Amounts utilised –

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 500,000

Increase in provision 5,834,345
Amounts utilised (948,019)

At 31 March 2016 5,386,326

As the Group cannot reliably estimate what proportion of the litigation costs will be paid after more than 12 months from the 
reporting date, the amount is classified as current.

Dilapidation provision
As part of the Group’s property leasing arrangements there is an obligation to return the premises in the same state that they were 
received and repair damages which incur during the life of the lease, such as wear and tear. The cost is charged to profit and loss as the 
obligation arises. The provision is expected to be utilised between 2016 and 2021 as the leases terminate.

Dilapidation 
 provision 

£

At 1 March 2014 –
Capitalised in cost of short leasehold property 124,921
Amounts utilised –

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 124,921

Capitalised in cost of short leasehold property 36,762
Amounts utilised –

At 31 March 2016 161,683

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
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19 Other interest bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured 
at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 21.

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Non-current liabilities
Other secured interest bearing loan 1,362,767 –

1,362,767 –

The secured loan provided by Life Technologies Corporation (LTC), part of the Thermo Fisher Scientific Group, is accruing interest at 
a rate of 6% on the principal capital balance of £2,760,000 and is secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over intellectual 
property of the Group. This loan is wholly repayable in more than 5 years.

This loan is part of the provision of a total of £5,000,000 of secured loan facilities from LTC to the Group with £1,770,363 recognised 
as the fair value on grant of 20,325,204 warrants to the lender (see note 24). 

An additional £323,450 of the loan facility was used to settle legal costs during the year. The remaining £1,916,550 loan facility 
retention is to be drawn down against future milestones. 

The implied effective interest rate on the amount allocated to the loan as a liability is 19.21%.

20 Deferred tax liability
The deferred tax liability is in respect of other timing differences and the movement on the deferred tax account is as shown below:

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Other timing differences
Brought forward 39,545 39,545
Profit and loss account (39,545) –

Balance at 31 March 2016 – 39,545

21 Financial instruments
Principal financial instruments
The principal instruments used by the Group, from which the financial instrument risk arises, include cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, trade payables and borrowings.

A summary of the financial instruments held by category is shown below:

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Loans and receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 5,336,859 2,709,355
Trade and other receivables 1,223,564 –

Total financial assets not measured at fair value 6,560,423 2,709,355

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Interest bearing loans and borrowings (1,362,767) –
Trade payables (1,103,466) (937,472)
Accruals (905,635) (59,547)

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (3,371,868) (997,019)

Total financial instruments 3,188,555 1,712,336
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21 Financial instruments continued
Risk and sensitivity analysis
There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives policies and processes 
for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in this note.

The Group and Company are exposed through their operations to one or more of the following financial risks: foreign currency risk, 
liquidity risk, credit risk, investment risk and interest rate risk. The policy for managing these risks is set by the Board and all such risks 
are managed at a Group level within the organisation.

There have been no changes in the way the Group and Company manages risks from previous years. The policies for these risks are 
described further below:

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises because the Group has balances denominated in foreign currencies. It also has operations located in the 
USA whose functional currency is not the same as the parent company’s functional currency (sterling). The net assets from such 
overseas operations are exposed to currency risk giving rise to gains or losses on retranslation to sterling for the purposes of the 
consolidated financial statements. In the future it is planned that the foreign exchange risk will be mitigated by sales in US dollars.

The table below shows the split between currencies that balances are denominated in:

At 31 March 2016 US$ Euros GBP
Total

£

Trade and other receivables 28,920 1,092,297 4,215,642 5,336,859
Cash and other equivalents 7,699 472,194 4,856,966 5,336,859
Trade and other payables 7,454 139,673 (2,156,228) (2,009,101)
Borrowings (non-current) – – 1,362,767 1,362,727

At 31 March 2015 US$ Euros GBP
Total

£

Trade and other receivables – – – –
Cash and other equivalents 62 260,726 2,448,567 2,709,355
Trade and other payables 1,491 – 935,981 937,472
Borrowings (non-current) – – – –

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company fails to have sufficient funds to meet its debts as they become due. The liquidity risk of the 
Group is managed centrally. The Group holds funds in short-term bank deposits so that they are available when required. 

The table below shows the maturity analysis for non derivative financial liabilities:

Year ended 31 March 2016

 Carrying 
amount 

£ 

 Contractual 
cash flows 

£ 
1 year or less 

£ 
2 to 5 years 

£ 

More than  
5 years 

£

Non derivative financial liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2,760,000 2,760,000 – – 2,760,000
Trade payables  1,103,466  1,103,466  1,103,466 – –
Accruals  905,635 905,635 905,635 – –

13 months to 31 March 2015 £ £ £ £ £

Non derivative financial liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  – – –  –  – 
Trade payables  937,472  937,472  937,472  –  – 
Accruals 59,547 59,547 59,547  –  – 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest bearing assets and liabilities. The Group has in place a policy of maximising finance 
income by ensuring that cash balances earn a market rate of interest; offsetting where possible, cash balances and by forecasting and 
financing its working capital requirements.

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
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Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are due for payment as follows: 

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Due
Current 2,009,101 997,019
Non-current 2,760,000 –

4,769,101 997,019

The Board believe the current level of financial liabilities to be in line with expectations. The level of cash balances and trade and other 
receivables is sufficient to discharge the Group’s financial liabilities.

Credit risk
During the period, the Group’s credit risk was primarily attributable to its cash balances other loans receivable, and its trade 
receivables. Credit risk, is the risk that the counterparty fails to discharge its obligation in respect of the instrument. The credit risk 
on liquid funds is limited as the funds are held at banks with high credit ratings. The risk to the Group of trade receivables going bad is 
low due to the size and stature of the customers the company now trades with. There were no allowances for debt recovery as at the 
current or previous period end.

The loan of £302,535 provided by the Group to one of its customers is and held within “other loans and receivables” at amortised cost” 
is secured against equipment purchased by that customer with the proceeds of the loan.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial assets amounts to their carrying value of £6,560,423 (2015: 
£2,709,355). The Group deems that entities from whom credit exposure arises are of adequately strong credit quality and will 
therefore be able to pay the amounts due when they arise.

The concentration of credit risk for trade receivables at the balance sheet date by geographic region was:

 Year ended 
31 March 

2016 
£ 

13 months to 
31 March 

2015 
£ 

UK 102,347 –
Rest of world 1,121,216 –

1,223,563 –

Credit quality of financial assets 
The ageing of trade receivables at the balance sheet date was: 

31 March
2016

 Gross 
£ 

31 March 
2015 

Gross 
£ 

Not past due 709,977 –
Past due 0-30 days 3,073 –
More than 30 days 510,513 –

1,223,563 –

Investment risk
Investment risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest 
rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk from its interest earning financial assets. The floating rate assets are held in a money 
market account earning interest at Bank of England base rate less 0.3%. The interest rate risk is mitigated by the fact cash is held in 
short-term deposits allowing rapid transfer of funds to alternative commercial banks to obtain improved interest rates. There are no 
financial assets earning interest at fixed rates.
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Capital
As described in note 22 the Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, share premium and accumulated deficit 
as its capital reserves. In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent 
return for its equity shareholders through capital growth. In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to commercialise the 
development which has been undertaken to date, through major sales in a number of markets.

There have been no other significant changes to the Group’s capital management objectives, policies and processes in the period nor 
has there been any change in what the Group considers to be its capital.

22 Share capital

Ordinary shares of £0.10 each Deferred shares of £0.009 each
Share

premium
£

Total 
£No. £ No. £

Balance at 1 March 2014 2,689,460,366 2,689,460 1,039,640,244 9,356,762 22,813,765 34,859,988
Shares consolidation (2,662,565,762) – – – – –
Shares issued 161,269,105 16,126,911 – – 493,256 16,620,167

Balance at 31 March 2015 188,163,709 18,816,371 1,039,640,244 9,356,762 23,307,021 51,480,154

Balance at 1 April 2015 188,163,709 18,816,371 1,039,640,244 9,356,762 23,307,021 51,480,154
Shares issued 40,000,000 4,000,000 – – 3,716,640 7,716,640

Balance at 31 March 2016 228,163,709 22,816,371 1,039,640,244 9,356,762 27,023,661 59,196,794

On 2 July 2015 the Company issued 40,000,000 new ordinary shares of £0.10 each at £0.20 raising £8 million before expenses.

All ordinary shares in issue have equal voting rights and rights to dividends or other distributions. The deferred shares rank equally in 
all respects but do not have any voting rights or rights to receive dividends or other distributions and will not have any return on 
capital on a winding up.

23 Thermo Fisher Scientific loan and warrants 
On 11 December 2015, the Group entered into a loan agreement with Life Technologies Limited (“Thermo Fisher”), under the terms of 
which Thermo Fisher provided a loan facility of £5m to the Group subject to their approval over the usage of drawn funds. The term of 
the loan is 8 years and the rate of interest applied to the loan is 6%. The loan is secured by a fixed and floating charge against the 
intellectual property of the Group. 

The Group simultaneously entered into a share warrant agreement with Thermo Fisher. The Group assessed the accounting 
treatment of the loan and warrant agreements and have concluded that, although they are separate financial instruments, it is 
necessary to allocate the initial proceeds received between the loan and the warrants based on their fair values, because the 
instruments were entered into at the same time. 

Having considered the terms of the warrants, it has been concluded that they represent an equity instrument. The warrants are 
accounted for at fair value on inception in accordance with IAS 32. The loan is initially recognised at fair value on inception and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, in accordance with IAS 39.

The Group allocated the initial proceeds of the loan of £2,760,000 (the remainder is yet to be drawn down), according to the respective 
fair values of the loan and warrant instruments as follows:

£’000

Loan 990
Warrants 1,770

Total initial proceeds 2,760

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

21 Financial instruments continued
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The warrants are accounted for as an equity instrument under IAS 32, and are not subsequently re-measured. As the loan is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, an accretion charge is recognised over the life of 
the loan to restore its carrying value to the amount drawn down. The charge recognised in the year is as follows:

£’000

Fair value on inception 990
Amount subsequently drawn down 323
Accretion charge to 31 March 2016 50

Carrying value at 31 March 2016 1,363

On 11 December 2015 the Group also issued warrants over 20,325,204 shares to Thermo Fisher. The warrants have an exercise price 
of 24.6p per share, and have a term of 8 years.

Initial consideration received was £2,760,000. Per IAS 32, the Group estimated the allocation of the initial consideration between the 
loan and the warrants.

At 31 March 2016, the following warrants were outstanding in respect of Ordinary shares:

Date of grant  Exercise period 
2016 

number 
2015 

number 

11 December 2015 11 December 2015 to 10 December 2023 20,325,204 –

The fair values of the warrants granted were determined using a variation of the Black-Scholes model, incorporating the dilutive 
effects of the warrants. The following principal assumptions were used in the valuations:

 Thermo  
Fisher  

Warrants 

Share price 20.63p 
Volatility 68%
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.74%
Expected warrant life 8 years 

Warrants and weighted average exercise prices are as follows for the reporting periods presented:

Thermo Fisher Warrants 

 Number of 
shares  

£ 

 Weighted 
average exercise 

price per share  
£ 

Outstanding at 1 April 2015 – –
Granted 20,325,204 0.25
Lapsed – –
Forfeited – –
Exercised – –

Outstanding at 31 March 2016 20,325,204 0.25

– –
Exercisable at 31 March 2015 – –
Exercisable at 31 March 2016 20,325,204 0.25

24 Reserves
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within shareholders’ equity:

Reserve Description and purposes

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Retained profit and losses Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
The share option expense is recognised directly through the retained deficit reserve.

Currency translation reserve Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations.

Merger relief reserve Represents a premium on the issue of the ordinary shares for the acquisition of 
subsidiary undertakings.

Reverse acquisition reserve Effect on equity of the reverse acquisition of Premaitha Limited.
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25 Share-based payments
Share and warrant based payment expense for the period

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Options issued to employees of parent company 58,375 185,350
Options issued to employees of subsidiary company 65,714 160,419

124,089 345,769

Warrants issued for services received 110,507 56,385

234,596 402,154

Warrant based payment of £110,507 (2015: £56,385) for services received have been included in within fundraising expenses on the 
consolidated income statement of comprehensive income.

Share options
The Group operates two equity settled share-based remuneration schemes for employees: an HMRC approved EMI scheme and an 
unapproved scheme, jointly known as the “option scheme”. Under the scheme employees may be granted options to purchase 
shares, which vest over varying periods up to four years and must be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year ranged between 10p and 242p and their weighted average remaining 
contractual life was 8.3 years (2015: 8.9 years).

Of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the year 39,239 (2015: 39,239) had vested and were exercisable at the end of 
the year at a weighted average exercise price of 236p (2015: 236p).

The weighted average fair value of each option granted during the year was 8.16p (2015: 10p).

(i) Market based options
The company issued options between October 2012 and March 2014 with market based conditions attached such that they are only 
exercisable if the share price of the company exceeds 50p per Ordinary share. 

At 31 March 2016, the following options were outstanding in respect of Ordinary shares:

Date of grant Exercise period 2016 number 2015 number

31 October 2012 1 November 2012 to 1 November 2022 25,558 25,558
2 January 2013 3 January 2013 to 3 January 2023 13,681 13,681
19 March 2014 19 March 2018 to 19 March 2019 1,774,998 1,774,998
19 March 2014 19 March 2019 to 17 March 2024 706,997 706,997

(ii) Earnings per share options
The company issued options on 6th September 2014 and 15th July 2015 with conditions attached such that they are only exercisable 
if the earnings per share exceeds that for the financial year preceding the grant of the option. 

At 31 March 2016, the following options were outstanding in respect of Ordinary shares:

Date of grant Exercise period 2016 number 2015 number

6 September 2014 6 September 2018 to 5 September 2024 27,963,796 27,963,796
15 July 2015 19 March 2019 to 17 March 2024 5,360,000 –

The fair values of the options granted were determined using a variation of the Black-Scholes model, incorporating the dilutive 
effects of the options. In addition, the model was amended for the Market based options to incorporate the probability of the 50p 
trigger being met, with this being done by pricing an Up & In call option with a barrier set at 50p. The Earnings per share options were 
estimated to have a 50% probability of meeting the earnings per share conditions over the required periods and this was also 
incorporated in determining the number of options expected to vest.

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued
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The following principal assumptions were used in the valuations:

Market based options Earnings per share options

Options 
issued 

2012

Options 
issued 

2013

Options
issued

2014

Options
issued

2014

Options
issued

2015

Share price  242p  225p  21.5p  10.75p  21.375p 
Volatility 108.25% 108.15% 88.97% 51.88% 102.79%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.062% 1.11% 1.969% 1.97% 1.8%
Expected warrant life 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Options and weighted average exercise prices are as follows for the reporting periods presented:

Market based options Earnings per share options

Number of 
shares 

£

Weighted 
average exercise 

price per share 
£

Number of 
shares 

£

Weighted 
average exercise 

price per share 
£

Total number  
of shares 

£

Outstanding at 1 April 2015 2,521,234 0.14 27,963,796 0.10 30,485,030
Granted – – 5,360,000 0.20 5,360,000
Lapsed – – – – –
Forfeited – – – – –
Exercised – – – – –

Outstanding at 31 March 2016 2,521,234 0.14 33,323,796 0.12 35,845,030

Exercisable at 31 March 2015 39,239 2.36 – – 39,239
Exercisable at 31 March 2016 39,239 2.36 – – 39,239

The options held by the directors at the beginning and end of the year are as detailed below:

Adam Reynolds Nick Mustoe Peter Collins William Denman Stephen Little Barry Hextall

At 1 April 2015 591,666 591,666 5,638,174 2,654,989 555,984 –
Awarded – – – – 1,500,000 1,000,000
Lapsed – – – – – –

At 31 March 2016 591,666 591,666 5,638,174 2,654,989 2,055,984 1,000,000

Weighted average exercise price 10p 10p 10p 10p 11p 20p
Earliest date of exercise 19/03/2018 19/03/2018 06/09/2018 06/09/2018 06/09/2018 15/07/2019

No directors have exercised share options during the period. 

Warrants
(i) Standard Warrants
The company issued 2,822,454 warrants as part of a share placing on 4th July 2014. The warrants have a conversion price of  
11p per share. 

At 31 March 2016, the following warrants were outstanding in respect of Ordinary shares:

Date of grant Exercise period 2016 number 2015 number

4 July 2015 4 July 2016 to 3 July 2019 2,822,454 2,822,454

The fair values of the warrants granted were determined using a variation of the Black-Scholes model, incorporating the dilutive 
effects of the warrants. The following principal assumptions were used in the valuations:

Standard  
warrants

Share price 11p
Volatility 102.62%
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.779%
Expected warrant life 3 years
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Warrants and weighted average exercise prices are as follows for the reporting periods presented:
Standard warranty

Number of 
shares 

£

Weighted 
average exercise 

price per share 
£

Outstanding at 1 April 2015 2,822,454 0.11
Granted – –
Lapsed – –
Forfeited – –
Exercised – –

Outstanding at 31 March 2016 2,822,454 0.11

Exercisable at 31 March 2015 – –
Exercisable at 31 March 2016 – –

26 Leases
Operating leases
At the period end the Group is committed to making the following payments under non-cancellable operating leases for land and buildings:

31 March 2016
£

31 March 2015
£

Total amounts payable
Within 1 year 177,451 108,819
Between 2-5 years 709,805 –
In more than 5 years 101,582 –

988,838 108,819

27 Related party transactions
Key management personnel are considered to be the Directors; their emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

During the period W Denman, a Director of the Company, invoiced the Group £63,492 (2015: £99,655) for consultancy services.  
At the period end £Nil (2015: £2,070) was due to W Denman respect of these costs.

During the period P Collins, a Director of the Company, invoiced the Group £214,308 (2015: £113,998) for consultancy services by 
Collins Biotech Consultancy SPRL. At the period end £19,243 (2015: £11,960) was due to P Collins in respect of these costs.

During the period in which he was a Director, the Company was charged £12,833 (2015: £77,750) in relation to M Collingbourne’s 
Director’s fees by Morrison Kingsley Consultants Limited. There was no balance outstanding in relation to these fees at the current  
or preceding year-end.

During the period the Company was charged £137,900 (2015: £52,500) in relation to A Reynolds’ Director’s fees by Reyco Limited. 
There was no balance outstanding in relation to these fees at the current or preceding year-end.

During the period the Company was charged £25,000 (2015: £18,750) in relation to consultancy fees by Kindred Agency Limited for the 
provision of services by Nick Mustoe. At the balance sheet date there was £19,044 (2015: £Nil) owed to Nick Mustoe in respect of the fees.

All services were charged on an arm’s length basis.

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements continued

25 Share-based payment continued
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28 Business combination – reverse acquisition
(Reverse acquisition of Premaitha Health PLC and its subsidiaries.)

On 4 July 2014, Premaitha Health PLC acquired Premaitha Limited for a total consideration of £9,545,455 satisfied by the issue of 
95,454,545 ordinary shares of 10p each and 11p each.

In the Group accounts the transaction has been accounted for as reserve acquisition in accordance with the principle of IFRS3. The 
legal subsidiary is identified as the acquirer, and the fair value of consideration deemed is £2,958,409. The legal parent is identified as 
the subsidiary. Therefore no goodwill has arisen. The aggregate deemed fair value of the net assets acquired were £1,343,127 mostly 
represented by cash at bank of £1,229,128 and fixed assets of £108,763. The resulting charge to the income statement in respect of 
the above acquisition was £1,615,282.

For details of the amendments made to the comparatives in these financial statements in respect of the reverse acquisition please 
see note 10.

29 Ultimate controlling party
The Company does not have an ultimate controlling party.

30 Post balance sheet events
The Group has evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after 31 March 2016 up to the date of signing of the financial 
statements.

On 22 September 2016, the Group entered into a loan agreement with Thermo Fisher for a further facility of £4,000,000. The Group 
simultaneously entered into a further warrant agreement with Thermo Fisher.

No other material subsequent events have occurred that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.



54

Premaitha Health PLC | Annual Report and Accounts 2016

Parent Company statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2016

Company number 3971582 Notes

As at  
31 March 2016 

£

As at  
31 March 2015 

£

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 2 518,781 962 
Investments 3 10,500,000 10,500,000 

Total non-current assets 11,018,781 10,500,962 

Current assets
 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 4 12,641,383 5,301,590
 Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,539,365 2,295,742 

Total current assets  17,180,748 7,597,332 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 223,988 96,116

Net current assets  27,975,541 18,002,178 

Net current assets
Creditors: amounts falling after more than one year 8 1,362,767 –

Total assets  26,612,774 18,002,178

Capital and reserves
Share capital 9 32,173,133 28,173,133 
Share premium 10 27,023,661 23,307,021 
Merger relief reserve 10 954,545 954,545 
Warrants reserve 10 1,770,363 –
Accumulated deficit 10 (35,308,928) (34,432,521)

Total equity 26,612,774 18,002,178 

The financial statements on pages 54 to 56 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 30 September 2016 
and were signed on its behalf by:

Adam Reynolds
Chairman
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity 
as at 31 March 2016

Share  
capital  

£

Share  
premium

£

Merger relief
reserve

£

Warrants 
reserve

£

Retained  
losses

£

Total  
equity

£

12 months ended 31 March 2015

Balance at 1 April 2014 12,046,223 22,813,765 – – (33,509,617) 1,350,371
Profit for the period – – – – (1,325,058) (1,325,058)
Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for – – – – (1,325,058) (1,325,058)

Transactions with owners
Issue of share capital 16,126,910 658,147 954,545 – – 17,739,602
Share issue expenses – (164,891) – – – (164,891)
Share-based payment – – – – 402,154 402,154

Total transactions with owners 16,126,910 493,256 954,545 – 402,154 17,976,865

Balance at 31 March 2015 28,173,133 23,307,021 954,545 (34,432,521) 18,002,178

12 months ended 31 March 2016

Balance at 1 April 2015 28,173,133 23,307,021 954,545 (34,432,521) 18,002,178
Profit for the period – – – – (1,111,003) (1,111,003)
Other comprehensive expense – – – – – –

Total comprehensive expense for the period – – – – (1,111,003) (1,111,003)

Transactions with owners
Issue of share capital 4,000,000 4,000,000 – – – 8,000,000
Share issue expenses – (283,360) – – – (283,360)
Share-based payment – – – – 234,596 234,596
Warrants issued – – – 1,770,363 – 1,770,363

Total transactions with owners 4,000,000 3,716,640 – 1,770,363 234,596 9,721,599

Balance at 31 March 2016 32,173,133 27,023,661 954,545 1,770,363 (35,308,928) 26,612,774
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Parent Company statement of cash flows 
as at 31 March 2016

Notes

12 months to 
31 March 2016

£

12 months to
31 March 2015

£

Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before tax (1,207,664) (1,325,058)
Adjustments for:
 Finance income (15,000) (143,076)
 Finance expenses 49,680 –
 Depreciation 70,744 240
 Share option and warrant expense 331,257 402,154

(770,983) (1,065,740)
Changes in working capital:
 Increase in trade and other receivables (7,339,794) (5,260,004)
 Increase in trade and other payables 127,872 42,783

Cash generated from operating activities (7,982,905) (6,282,961)

Net cash used in operating activities (7,982,905) (6,282,961)

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (589,174) –
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 612 –
Interest received 15,000 143,076

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (573,562) 143,076

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity instruments 7,716,640 7,074,711
Proceeds from borrowing 3,083,450 –

Net cash from financing activities 10,800,090 7,074,711

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,243,623 934,826
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,295,742 1,360,916

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5 4,539,365 2,295,742
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Notes forming part of the Parent Company financial statements 
for the period ended 31 March 2016

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements of Premaitha Health PLC is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. These financial statements 
were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101) and in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards. The Company’s financial statements are presented in Sterling. 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis an on the historical cost basis except for the modification to 
a fair value basis for certain financial and equity instruments as specified in the accounting policies below. 

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Company are set out below. 

The Company transitioned from UK GAAP to FRS 101 for all periods presented. There were no material amendments on the adoption 
of FRS 101. The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2016.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

a) the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ to present comparative information in respect of 
paragraph 79(a)(IV) of IAS 1; 

b) the requirements of paragraphs 6, 10(d), 10(f), 39( c), 21 and 134 – 136 of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’;
c) the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’;
d) the requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’;
e) the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’;
f) the requirements in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more 

members of a group, provided that any subsidiaries which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.

A summary of the more important accounting policies is set out below. 

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
There is no impact resulting from the adoption of FRS 101.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less estimated residual values, of all fixed assets, evenly over their expected useful 
lives. It is calculated at the following rates:

Plant and equipment 20%-25% straight line
Short leasehold property 20% straight line

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at the balance sheet date in addition to whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the expected discounted future cash flow from the use of 
the assets and their eventual disposition is less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss is recognised and 
measured using the asset’s fair value or discounted cash flows.

Valuation of investments
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. The investments are reviewed for impairment at 
the balance sheet date in addition to whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. If the expected discounted future cash flow from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition is less than the 
carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss is recognised and measured using the asset’s fair value or discounted cash flows.

Share-based payments 
Where share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is charged to the profit and loss 
account over the vesting period. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest at each balance sheet date so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting 
period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options 
granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions 
are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the remaining 
vesting period.

Where share-based options are awarded to employees of subsidiaries the charge in respect to the share-based payments is treated 
as a capital contribution and forms part of the investment in that subsidiary. 
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Thermo Fisher Scientific loan and warrants 
On 11 December 2015, the Group entered into a loan agreement with Life Technologies Limited (“Thermo Fisher”), under the terms of 
which Thermo Fisher provided a loan facility of £5m to the Group. The term of the loan is 8 years and the rate of interest applied to the 
loan is 6%. The loan is secured by a fixed and floating charge against the intellectual property of the Group. 

The Group simultaneously entered into a share warrant agreement with Thermo Fisher. The Group assessed the accounting 
treatment of the loan and warrant agreements and have concluded that, although they are separate financial instruments, it is 
necessary to allocate the initial proceeds received between the loan and the warrants based on their fair values, because the 
instruments were entered into at the same time. Note 23 details the accounting treatment of both instruments.

Foreign currency
The functional currency of the Company is Pounds Sterling. Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rates ruling when they 
occurred. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet dates. 
Any differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that effect the 
application of policies and reported amounts. In applying these policies the directors are required to make estimates and subjective 
judgements that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date and reported profit or loss for the 
period. Although the directors base these on combination of past experience and any other evidence that is relevant to the particular 
circumstance, the actual results could ultimately differ from those estimates.

Included in the note are accounting policies which cover areas that the directors consider require estimates and assumptions which 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial period. 
These policies together with references to the related notes to the financial statements can be found below:

Share-based payments and warrants
The fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes model which takes into account conditions attached to the vesting and exercise 
of the equity instruments.  The expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. Management are also required to apply their judgement in 
assessing a reasonable volatility figure to be applied in the model.

Impairment and investments
Investments are held subject to impairment review. The Group’s management undertakes an impairment review annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The key assumptions used 
in the sensitivity analysis are as follows:

Growth rates
The value in use of the investment is calculated from cash flow projections for the Group based on the latest financial projections 
covering a period of 2 years, extrapolated for a further 2 years and are completed with a perpetuity rate of 7%. 

Discount rates
The pre-tax discount rate used to calculate value is 13%. The discount rate is derived from the average effective interest rate 
calculated over the life of the Thermo Fisher loan instruments, which is deemed to be a reasonable proxy for the weighted average 
cost of capital.

Cashflow assumptions
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected cashflows. 
Changes in revenues and expenditures are based on past experience and expectations of future growth.

In respect of the value in use of the investment, the headroom compared to the carrying value of the investment is £25,278k. 
Increasing the discount rate to 17% and leaving all other factors the same would lead to the value in use equalling the carrying value of 
the investment.

Notes forming part of the Parent Company financial statements continued
for the period ended 31 March 2016
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2 Plant, property and equipment
Short

leasehold
properties

£

Plant and
equipment

£
Total

£

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2014 – 1,794 1,794
Additions – – –
Balance at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 – 1,794 1,794

Additions 107,523 481,651 589,174
Disposals – (1,794) (1,794)

Balance at 31 March 2016 107,523 481,651 589,174

Depreciation and amortisation
Balance at 1 April 2014 – 592 592
Depreciation charge for the period – 240 240
Balance at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 – 832 832

Depreciation charge for the period 10,753 59,991 70,744
Disposals – (1,183) (1,183)

Balance at 31 March 2016 10,753 59,640 70,393

Net book value
At 31 March 2016 96,770 422,011 518,781

At 1 April 2015 – 962 962

At 1 April 2014 – 1,202 1,202

3 Investments
Investment in

subsidiaries’
unlisted shares

£

Cost and net book value
Balance at 1 April 2015 10,500,000

Balance at 31 March 2016 10,500,000

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiary entities.

4 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
31 March 2016

£
31 March 2015

£

Trade receivables – 184,198
Other receivables 14,206 2,135
Prepayments 29,559 20,242
Amounts receivable from Group companies 12,597,618 5,095,015

12,641,383 5,301,590

5 Cash at bank and in hand
31 March 2016

£
31 March 2015

£

Cash at bank and on hand 10,105 180,335
Short term bank deposits 4,529,260 2,115,407

4,539,365 2,295,742

6 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
31 March 2016

£
31 March 2015

£

Trade payables 35,854 24,749
Social security and other taxes 9,919 –
Other payables 5,715 33,034
Accrued expenses 172,500 38,333

223,988 96,116
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7 Company profit and loss account
The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit and loss account in 
these statements. The company’s loss after tax was £1,111,003 (2015: £1,325,058) which is dealt with in the financial statements of 
the parent company for the year ended 31 March 2016.

8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

9 Called up share capital
For details of share capital see note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.

10 Reserves
Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

11 Share-based payments
As detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements the company issues share options and warrants to both its own 
employees and employees of its subsidiary.

12 Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS101 not to disclose transactions with entities that 
are wholly owned subsidiaries of Premaitha Health Plc.

There are no other related party transactions other than those relating to Directors that have been disclosed in note 27 to the 
consolidated statements.

13 Ultimate controlling party
The Company does not have an ultimate controlling party.
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Amniocentesis Is an invasive procedure that involves removing and testing a small sample of cells from the amniotic 
fluid. It is offered to pregnant women if there is a high risk that the fetus could have a genetic 
condition, it carries a small risk of miscarriage. 

Circulating DNA Cell free DNA found at low levels in blood samples.condition, it carries a small risk of miscarriage. 

Combined test This test is performed at around 11 weeks of pregnancy (but any time between 10 and 13 weeks is
acceptable). It consists of a blood sample and an ultrasound examination.

Contingent screening A contingent screening model is where the first trimester screening is done first and a high/
intermediate risk results are then sent for an NIPT instead of invasive procedure. 

CQC Care Quality Commission; an independent regulator of health and social care in England.

CVS Chorionic villus sampling, an invasive procedure carried out during pregnancy to check if a fetus has a
genetic disorder, such as Down’s syndrome. It involves removing and testing a small sample of cells
from the placenta.

DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid

Fetal Fraction Fetal fraction is the amount of the cell-free DNA in the maternal blood that is of fetal origin compared 
to maternal origin. If the fetal fraction is too small a NIPT screening will not produce a result.

the IONA® test The first CE-marked IVD NIPT prenatal screening product developed by Premaitha.

IVD in vitro diagnostic; a diagnostic device intended for the analysis of specimens derived from the
human body.

Microdeletion A small, missing (or “deleted”) piece of a chromosome is called a microdeletion. Microdeletions are 
usually not inherited from a parent. Some microdeletions cause intellectual disability and birth 
defects, while others have little impact on a child’s health and life.

Next Generation Sequencing A generic term for methods of DNA sequencing characterised by very high throughputs producing
thousands or millions of sequences concurrently.

NHS National Health Service

NIPT Non-invasive prenatal test

NSC National Screening Committee advises ministers and the NHS in the four UK countries about all 
aspects of population screening and supports implementation of screening programmes

NT Nuchal translucency is a collection of fluid under the skin at the back of a fetus’ neck. It can be
measured using ultrasound: between 11 weeks plus two days and 14 weeks of pregnancy. A high
measurement is indicative of a genetic disorder such as Down’s syndrome.

Plasma Plasma is the largest single component of blood, and makes up about 55% of total blood volume. It is a 
clear, straw-coloured liquid and it carries the DNA. 

Sex aneuploidy Sex chromosome aneuploidies are conditions in which there is a change from the usual two copies of 
sex chromosomes in males (XY) or females (XX). These conditions may cause mental or physical 
defects, with different levels of severity.

Trisomy The condition of having three copies of a given chromosome or chromosome segment in each
somatic cell rather than the normal number of two.

Trisomy 13 Patau’s syndrome

Trisomy 18 Edwards’ syndrome

Trisomy 21 Down’s syndrome

Glossary of technical terms and measurements
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